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“In 1965 ASA began building a major intercept site at Udorn, a Thai town in the far north, near the Mekong River.  Called Ramasun Station, it became the location for an FLR-9 antenna, and at the height of the Vietnam War, it housed over 1,000 ASA and AFSS cryptologists.” 

      Quoted from:  (NSA Retired Records, 28515, 84-245: (censored( and William D. Gerhard, SIGINT Applications in U.S. Air Operations, Cryptologic History Series, Southeast Asia, Part 1: Collecting the Enemy’s Signals (Ft. Meade: NSA, 1972).  

The Viet Nam war became the focal point of massive changes in the way the average person in the United States looked at the world.  The Draft, The Invasion of Cambodia,  Viet Cong, Walter Cronkite, CIA, Air America, Lt. Calley, Khe Sahn, Khmer Rouge, Ho Chi Minh, General Westmoreland.  These were the subject of the daily conversations in the U.S..  Most people in the United States could not locate the countries of South East Asia on a globe, they had never heard of Vientiane, Pleiku, Phomn Penh, Saigon, Utapao, Korat, Khe Sahn, Hanoi, Phu Bai or the Mekong Delta.  

Young men boarded chartered flights and went off to war.  For several years, the country supported the mission to train, equip and provide support for the people of Viet Nam, most of whom just wanted to live their lives.  As time went by the mission became clouded, the people of South East Asia became pawns, the soldiers, airmen and sailors serving there became objects of criticism and getting out became the goal.  Millions of young men and women served during the war.  

They carry with them memories of the places where they spent time.  They remember the people they served with, the citizens of the countries they visited and the swirl of activity that surrounded them.  This is the story of some of those who “Served in Silence”.

Serving in Silence did not mean they were not contributing to the war effort.  Most did not have tales of long days and nights struggling through the dense jungles, the mad rush of adrenaline during an ambush, the sound of enemy mortars heading their way or their comrade lying in a pool of blood.  Although, some ASA personnel did serve in direct support of combat units in the field.  The ASA was not a combat unit however, President Johnson proclaimed the first casualty of the Viet Nam war as a soldier in the ASA.  Specialist 4th Class James T. Davis died in an ambush.  As one of those who “Served in Silence”, I remember that time. Like many others, I remember places most people never heard of but we will never forget.

If you were there, you will notice something strange about this writing.  The Language.  It was not written in some unknown tongue.  Nevertheless, it is not what you heard if you were there.  I have three granddaughters now and they may want to read this some day.  If you were there you can fill in the blanks if you were not, use your imagination.  We were young, we were half way around the world and we figured no one would ever know the difference or cared enough to notice.  I remember the discussions we had about all that went on at the 7th Rock and Roll Freak Show.  ‘If we could pick this up and drop it in the middle of Nebraska, people would freak out.’  That’s the way it was.  No one could ever describe what it was like to those who were not there.  This is my best attempt.  Some of the names changed due to either faulty memory or to protect the innocent but all these things actually happened.  

As I wrote this, I kept thinking about a song by Boston. 

It's been such a long time
I think I should be goin'
And time doesn't wait for me, it keeps on rollin'
Sail on, on a distant highway
I've got to keep on chasin' a dream
I've gotta be on my way
Wish there was something I could say.

Well I'm takin' my time, I'm just movin' on
You'll forget about me after I've been gone
And I take what I find, I don't want no more
It's just outside of your front door.

Well I get so lonely when I am without you
But in my mind, deep in my mind,
I can't forget about you
Good times, and faces that remind me
I'm tryin' to forget your name and leave it all behind me
You're comin' back to find me.

It's been such a long time, I think I should be goin', 
And time doesn’t wait for me, it keeps on rollin'
There's a long road, I've gotta stay in time with
I've got to keep on chasin' that dream, though I may never find it
I'm always just behind it.

Before you read more of this, I want to maker one thing clear.  Nothing I am writing is meant to discredit the contribution made by the ASA to the US efforts in Southeast Asia.  The 7th RRFS twice received recognition as the best Cryptology Unit in the military.  I served there during one of these periods.  We did our jobs and made our contributions.

The military during the draw down from Viet Nam was experiencing numerous problems.  Discipline had broken down in many units and morale throughout the military was extremely low.  No one wanted to be the last casualty of the war.  Over 50,000 men died in Viet Nam.  Prisoners of war were kept for years on end.  The people back home had grown weary.  Bob Dylan wrote “the times they are a changing”.

Today’s military has developed in the after math of the problems during Viet Nam.  The all-volunteer force of today is better educated, more disciplined and more committed than the military during the last years of the War in Viet Nam.  Along with the millions who have served our country during times of peace and times of war, they deserve our respect and commitment.  It is my hope that Americans never again withdraw their support for our military as they did during the War in Viet Nam.

7th RRFS Vocabulary or Strange terms and euphemisms you may want to be familiar with before reading any further.

FTA: Army recruiting slogan during the Era.  Fun, Travel and Adventure.

If you define FTA as a quick trip to Viet Nam.  Those serving during the time made some major changes to the slogan.  As I said in my introduction, I have Granddaughters who may read this.  If you don’t know or can’t figure it out, ask someone who served during Viet Nam.

NUG:  New Guy.  Sometimes referred as an FNG.  Use your imagination about what the F stood for.  Your time as a NUG or FNG depended on how well you fit in.  

ETS : Expected Termination of Service.  Day you get out of the Army.  Also known as the greatest day of your life to that point. 

The World:  United States of America

Dits and Dahs:  Morse Code

Lifer: Anyone making a career out of the Army.  Also, known as a puke.  Lifers spent most of their time looking for people who needed to get a haircut or were not in proper uniform.  When not doing that they could be found bowling and drinking beer at the NCO (Non Commissioned Officer) club or fine wines at the Officers club.  Tales about where they had served usually accompanied the consumption of beverages. They also shared stories about the dangers they had faced, the medals they had been awarded, how fast they were promoted and where their next tour of duty would take them.  A great deal of time was spent wondering why the Army could not recruit (or draft) more people just like them.  

The Draft:  For those of you under the age of 35.  When we registered for the draft it meant we could actually be drafted.  You register so you can get a drivers license!  This was the Military’s way of filling their ranks.  During Viet Nam you could avoid the draft by staying in college, burning your draft card, failing your physical or going to Canada.  You could also avoid the draft by being related to a Congressman or Senator.  To make it more fair  the Military started a system using a lottery.  The lottery assigned a number to each day of the year.  If your birthday drew a high enough number you would not get drafted. If your number came up and your family had political  connections, you joined the National Guard. 

Saam Law: A three wheeled vehicle used for transportation in Thailand.   During the time I served in the Army there, the Saam Laws were pedal driven.  The driver was in front and a little seat behind him held his customers.  Today the saam laws are all motorized.  Some have seats for passengers while others have an area like the bed of a small pick up truck with a bench seat on each side.  In Bangkok, they call Saam Laws, “Tuuk Tuuks”

Article 15:  Non-judicial punishment.  Non-Judicial meant there was no hearing.  Your are guilty, there is no need for conversation.  When you did something, the Army did not like they would give you an Article 15.  Things like not getting a haircut, reporting to work late, being out of uniform etc…  Punishment could be a loss of pay, restriction to post, digging holes and refilling them etc…  If you got enough Article 15’s you could be busted in rank.  More important you became a role model for all your buddies.

VRB:  Variable Reenlistment Bonus.  Bonus you got for Reenlisting.  Your bonus could be up to $10000.  People in the ASA were eligible for the $10000.  Often people would use their VRB to buy themselves a new car.  These cars were often referred to a “VRB rods” (as in hot rods).

MOS: Military Occupational Specialty.  This is how everyone knew what your job was.  11B was the most widely awarded MOS, Infantry.  O5H was a High Speed Morse Intercept Operator.

Dig it:  I understand or I agree

ASA: Army Security Agency.  The ASA mission included monitoring foreign communications and protecting U.S. Army communications.  

The Motto of the ASA was “Always Vigilant”. The ASA was closely tied to the National Security Agency.  All major ASA installations had NSA personnel.

Lao Lao: Thai for very fast.

Bai Lao:  I am leaving.  

The Box:  ASA operations building.  A windowless, secure building where ASA people worked.  Surrounded by double fences, sometimes with bunkers and you needed a badge to get in.  It was like working in a shoebox. Also referred to as “Ops” (as in operations). 

Top 10%:  Those who scored in the Top 10% on the test they gave you when you entered the Army.  Sounds like a big deal.  Just remember they were drafting guys’ right and left in those days.  High school dropouts or people who joined to stay out of jail.  Look at your history book and see the average age and education completed for an infantry soldier in Viet Nam.  There weren’t too many Harvard graduates getting drafted or enlisting.  

Company Clerk: The person who was supposed to keep track of things.  Like how many people were in the Company, how many people were sick, how many boots were issued?  All the important things.  This person also did correspondence and generally tried to keep the 1st Sergeant (1st SGT or 1st Shirt) and Company Commander (CO) happy.  If the 1st SGT or CO wanted to know something, they asked the Company Clerk.  No one knows for sure what the 1st SGT or CO did.  Almost everything that was done outside of the box was because the Company Clerk made it work or in some cases made it not work.

Short Timers Calendar:  Calendar used to keep track of how many days you had left in the Army.  If someone asked, you ‘how short are you?”.  It had nothing to do with your height.  If you had, less time left than they did you would let them know it.  Usually something like “I can’t even remember when I had _ _  _days left”.  Most of the time you started your ’short timers calendar’ when you had 1 year left.  You weren’t actually short if you had a year left but it was a starting point.  Probably developed because people sent to Viet Nam served 1 year in Viet Nam.

Elephant Cage:  What the Thai people called our FLR 9 antenna.  It was round and looked like a big cage.  If you look on Google Earth you can still see the footprint of the FLR9 at the 7th RRFS.  For more info on the FLR 9 do a Google search (I do not have time to explain it, the battery on my laptop is dying).

Mill Monkey:  An 05H.  They called the typewriters we used ‘mills’.  An 05H could also be referred to as a ‘ditty bopper’.  Most people who were not O5H’s thought we were about one bulb short of a full string.  

Ditty City:  The area at Fort Devens where they taught us Morse Code.  Enlist in the Army and learn a skill that will help you the rest of your life.  Does anyone know an employer who needs someone who can copy 45 words per minute in Morse Code?  As extra incentive we can type also.

Cans:  The headsets we used.

Canned Code:  At Ft. Devens, they played tapes for us to learn to copy Morse Code.  The code was perfect.  Nothing slurred nothing you could not hear due to QRM ‘man made’ or QRN ‘natural’ interference.  The only problem was the people you listened to in the field did not send ‘canned code’.  The interference (man made or natural) at times almost drowned out the target you were trying to copy.  This usually resulted in you making a nasty comment on your chatter log.  This sometimes resulted in a ‘Nasty Gram’ from NSA headquarters in DC.  Seems some little old lady in DC read your comments and was highly offended by the language.

Cut Numbers: Numbers sent by the Viet Cong and North Viet Namese.  They used only numbers in sending their messages and did not even send the whole number.  They used an abbreviated version of the number.   i.e.  4 dits and a dah are the number 1.  The Viet Cong however, only sent 1 dit and a dah, which is actually an A in Morse code.  If you were smart, enough to figure it all out, you became an 05H.  If not they made you the Company Commander.

Targets:  We did not shoot at people.  Our targets were the networks we monitored and copied.  We found them on our handy dandy receivers and copied everything they sent over the airwaves.  Mostly everything.  You will understand when you learn about sending ’vvvvs’ later.

Zoomie: Anyone in the Air Force.  (Their airplanes went zooooom).

If I need to explain this one you need to read something else. 

 NCO: Non Commissioned Officer.  Sergeant (E-5) or above.  These were the people you had as direct supervisors and therefore interacted with the most.  Your room supervisor was an NCO.  NCOs’ had authority as opposed to Specialists who had no authority.  A Sergeant E5 and a Specialist 5 received the same pay but the Specialist could not be in authority.  In other words, you had to be a person who liked to hang out at the bowling alley and drink beer to be an NCO.  To be a Specialist you just had to wish you had never joined the Army.

1st Sergeant: Also known as the 1st Shirt or Top.  Each company had a 1st Sergeant.  He was just below the Company Commander in authority.  Actually, he was the person who made sure everything ran smooth.  After a short time in the Army, you realized that nothing ran smooth.  I will let you draw your own conclusions about the competency of the 1st Sergeant.  However, he was more respected than the Company Commander.  His favorite phrase was “Don’t call me sir, I work for a living”.

Company Commander: 2nd Lieutenant or above.  Supposedly the guy in charge of your company.  In reality, the guy who asked the 1st Sergeant what he should do next.  His biggest concern each day was whether you saluted him and called him sir.  His next biggest concern was the menu at the Officer’s Club.

AF(R/T)VN : Armed Forces (radio or TV) Viet Nam.  The Armies propaganda wing.  AFVN TV played everything you wanted to see.  Re-runs of programs from the 50’s, information on maintaining your health and well being and big band music were some of the favorites.  The news was broadcast also.  Censored to make sure we did not embarrass any of our allies or report anything that was demeaning to the Military.  

Recruiter:  1 step lower than a politician on the integrity scales.  You could not believe anything they told you.

CHAPTER:  . - - - - (1)  Getting There

Getting to the 7th R(ock) and R(oll), F(reak), S(how) began the same way for everyone who passed through there.  

Oakland, California January 1971.  I arrived after a 2-week leave.  Like all others before me, I was there for processing through to South East Asia.  Thailand was my destination.  

“What’s up” was all he said to me. 

 “Just doing my time” was my reply.

 “You going to Nam” he asked with a somewhat sympathetic look on his face.  

“No, man, Thailand” I replied hoping he would tell me how fortunate I was. 

 “Same here, man.  I was back to the World for 4 months.  I been up North in a place called Ramasun Station.  Where are they sending you?”  He asked me, seemingly just to have someone to talk to.  I don’t think he really cared.

“Hey man, that’s where I am headed.  What‘s your MOS?”.  I guess I hoped the fact we were going to the same duty station would create some kind of bond.  

“Lingie, they sent me back for 4 months of language school,” he said with no further explanation.

“Dig it man.  I am an O5H”.  

“The Box there is a trip man.  Lots of ‘mill monkeys’.  The ‘lifers’ are like they are everywhere man.  They think we are all a bunch of pot heads who don’t give a damn about anything.”

“Right on, man.”

“Stick with me man.  I’ll get you there. My name is Denny”.  He said it as he put out his hand and we clasped hands in a way that was familiar to anyone who had done any time at all.  

This was my cue to tell him who I was.  

“Everyone calls me Buck.”  Nothing further needed to be known at this time.  Last names meant nothing until you knew this was someone who was going to be around.  In Nam, the grunts made it a point not to get to close to a new guy.  He might be dead in a week or two.  In our case, it had nothing to do with facing danger.  It had everything to do with not knowing who could be trusted.

It was fortunate for me to meet up with someone who had been in country and hopefully knew the ropes.  I hoped he could give me some insight into the way things were at the 7th.  The next 3 days we spent every waking minute together.  Processing was a big pain that took a lot longer than needed.  Shots, paperwork, getting your ‘port call’ and the paperwork took up about 3 hours out of 3 days.  The remainder of the time was spent looking for a place to hang out.  We passed some time at the snack bar, played some cards, looked for the mess hall and basically just wasted time.  Finally, the day arrived for us to get on a big silver bird and head for Thailand.  

Flight # 176.  The buses were waiting outside the building we had assembled in about 2 hours earlier.  The biggest question on everyone’s mind was why we had to be there at 0600 hours to catch a bus that left at 0800 hours.

“This is a bunch of crap.  Where the hell are the busses?”  If I heard it once. I heard it a million times.  

Typical Army.  Hurry up and wait.  

Finally, some PFC walked in with a clipboard.  Like most of the people in the building, his main goal in life was to become a short timer and go home.  He started calling out names and telling everyone to get on the bus.  My friend heard his name and told me he would save me a seat.  The change from acquaintance to friend had taken place after about two days together.  He had let me know he had about 16 months to ETS, there was no VRB in his future and he had enough Article 15’s to fill at least one drawer in the average file cabinet.  Nothing serious, late for work, not getting a haircut, telling a ‘puke’ to ‘piss off’.  In return, I had shared with him how we escaped the alerts while I was in Panama, riding our ‘bikes’ in the interior, driving a Jeep through the antenna field and harassing the ‘GIRBs’ who drove our bus.  (GIRB was a term I heard only in Panama.  GI Rotten Bastards. It applied to anyone who was not ASA.) 

Denny picked up his duffle bag, lumbered through the doors, handed his papers to the person checking us in and headed for the bus.  

Shortly, I followed the same routine and headed for the bus I was told to board.  Denny who was on another bus had the window open and was waving at me to join him.  

“Hey soldier where you going”.  Another PFC with a clipboard asked me, as if he had some right to know, what I intended to do.

“Looks like I am getting on the bus”.  This dude felt he had some authority that allowed him to tell me where to set.

“Wrong bus!” he said with a sense of indignation.

“Hey man, cut me some slack.  These buses are all going to the same place.  What’s the diff?  Just change the number beside my name and give my seat to someone who cares”.  Walking away, I felt a sense of freedom.  What was the big deal about getting on a bus?  I looked to see how the PFC was going to handle the situation.  He mumbled something and I last saw him with a look on his face that told me someone else was going to have to change buses.  The entire system had been scrambled because one guy got on the wrong bus.  In the military, this could result in a complete cancellation of the flight or everyone getting off the bus to make sure the rosters were correct.  The military ran on checklists, rosters, copies in triplicate and waiting for someone to make a decision.  One guy getting on the wrong bus could cause bombers to return to base, emergency meetings in the Pentagon, radio silence for hours and a complete breakdown of morale and discipline.  In the end, he just moved someone from the bus I got on to the bus I was supposed to get on.  

“What is that guy’s problem?” I said to Denny as I took my seat.

“FTA” was the only reply.

We chatted as the bus pulled out of Oakland heading for the airport.  As we rode along, we looked out the windows and talked about our previous duty stations.  Who cared about the scenery?  We would not be back in the world until our ETS.

“How long were you at the 7th before your leave”, I asked Denny.

“I was there for 9 months.  Extended when they offered me a chance to come back for language school.  Typical Army man.  I speak the language better than any lingie they have there but I can’t change my MOS without going back to school”.

“Just like the Army, man”.  The military was infamous for doing things that do not make sense.  

This gave me an opening to share another stupid decision the Army had made on my behalf.  “When I was a kid I broke both my ear drums water skiing.  Therefore, what does the Army do, they make me a ‘ditty bopper’ so I can set with headphones on all day listening to code.  They give you a physical, find broken ear drums and give you a job with headsets.”  As we shook our heads and complained about all the lifers who could not get a real job, Denny gave me my first peak at the 7th. 

“The lifers at Non Soong don’t mess with us much”.  As he finished that statement, I wondered what he meant.  What was Non Soong?  For 3 days, we talked about going to the 7th and now he brought up this place called Non Soong.  Surely, we had not misunderstood each other for 3 days.

“What is Non Soong”?  Questions had to be asked, but you had to know how and when to ask them.  Asking the wrong question at the wrong time was something done by an FNG.

“That is the name of the little Village across the road from the 7th.  The real name of the place is ‘Ramasun Station”.  The locals don’t know what the place is but they know the name of the village.  If you get in a cab, you tell them to take you to Non Soong.  It is called Ramasun Station, the ASA designation is the 7th RRFS.  Call it what you want man but you have never seen anything like it.  How do they come up with these names?  7th Radio Research Field Station.  Sounds like some library or college research lab don‘t it.  There ain‘t no research, the only field is the ball field.  Lifers must spend all their free time trying to come up with terms that no one understands or cares about.”  Denny had strung together five or six sentences.  Not that he was not intelligent but it was unusual to speak more than a sentence or two at one time when you were still getting to know someone. He had just given me more insight than I expected.  I was starting to find out the things a FNG did not know.  

“A buddy of mine from Panama should be there by now.  How hard will it be for me to find him when I get there?” I asked hoping it would not be a difficult task.  John and I had been together from our days in “Ditty City” at Fort Devens. He had left Panama before me by a few days and should have arrived in Thailand by now.

“No problem man.  You can walk the whole place in less than 30 minutes.  The company clerk is a buddy of mine.  I will find out where he is”.  Offering to use one of your friends to help a new guy was unheard of.  Denny was making it obvious that he was accepting me.

“Dig it man”.

The small talk continued while the bus rolled toward our destination.  We talked about previous duty stations, how we ended up in the ASA, where we lived in the world and our families.  Each topic had to include at least one reference to the Army and all the stupid, mundane things they put us through.  After all neither of us wanted the other to think we were considering being lifers, inevitably the topic moved to how much time we had left.

“I extended so I could stay at the 7th until my ETS.  I have 16 months left”.  Life at the 7th must not be bad if he would extend his time there.

“Yeah man, I got 21 months to go”.  21 months, seemed like an eternity.  The ASA required us to sign up for 4 years.  Critical MOS, expenses for training, Top Secret Clearance were all the reasons the recruiter gave me.  Sitting in front of the recruiter all these sounded reasonable.  However, the main consideration had nothing to do with the things he told me and all the others who walked into a recruiting office in the midst of the Viet Nam war.  My main concern was how I stay out of the infantry.  Enlisting for 4 years sounded like a fair trade to stop little people from shooting at me.  

The recruiter explained to me the reality of the ASA.  “They do not put the ASA in combat zones!” as the words rolled off the lips of the recruiter I started looking for a pen and a place to sign. Was I a coward?  If you define cowardice as not wanting to get killed, count me in.  In the early stages of the US involvement in Viet Nam, the ASA was not officially in the country.  They were there but wearing civilian clothing and under some other designation.  At some point that all changed.  Our involvement in the war grew along with the commitment of troops.  The ASA presence in the country grew substantially and the cover was dropped.  

“Once you been there about 9 months, ask for an extension.  You’ll get it.  By the time you finish the extension you will be short enough they will let you out”.  Denny should have been a recruiter.  He made it sound so easy and it was all to my benefit.

“I don’t know man.  You never know what lifer might decide to send you somewhere just to screw with you”.  My insight into the way the Army did things let Denny know I knew that nothing in the military worked the way it was designed to work.  

“I can dig it, man”.  

No one really knew how the Army made their decisions.  Just a bunch of lifers sitting somewhere hoping they could hang on long enough to get their retirement.

The bus rolled to a stop and everyone stood at once.  Denny just sat there looking out the window while he reminded me the plane would not leave until everyone was on board.  Don’t matter if you are first or last, you will be on the plane.  This was not TWA. This was the Military.  They have a list and nothing happens until the list is all checked off, signed by 3 layers of NCOs, filed in triplicate and copies sent to 5 other clerks who filed them in triplicate.  3 hours later all this was accomplished, every seat was full and we were ready to take off.  California to Alaska, Alaska to the Philippines, the Philippines to Saigon, Saigon to Bangkok.  At every stop, some guys got on, some guys got off and more copies were filed in triplicate.  29 hours later, we landed in Bangkok, Thailand.  

Things were a little different when we landed.  No people telling you what bus to get on, no one with clipboards checking off names.  Just a line of busses sitting about 100 feet from the plane.  There were bunches of Thai nationals starting to unload our bags and other than that, nothing much seemed to be happening.  As our bags came off the plane, the ’Thais’ stacked them neatly in rows parallel to the buses.  All you had to do was find yours. 

Well, there was one thing very different.  It was hot.  Hot and humid.  Hot, humid and the air was full of odors that I had never smelled before.  The odor did not seem to come from anywhere in particular.  It just filled the air.  About two minutes after exiting the plane, everyone broke into a sweat.  The humidity caused your clothes to cling to you body and the odors seemed to follow.  Ten minutes after leaving the plane, you were sweating and smelling as if you had been there for days.  Finally, someone told us to move inside until all the bags were unloaded.  

Denny came over to me and wondered aloud what was going on.  He explained that normally the bags are all unloaded and you pick them up inside like you would at any airport.  We had landed at Don Muang airport in Bangkok.  During the war, Don Muang was used for commercial and military flight. 

“Something must be going on,” he said to me as we made our way to the comfort of some air conditioning in the terminal building. 

Once inside we discovered there was some concern about a fire in the terminal building.  The baggage area had been evacuated; the only thing left to do was unload everything on the ramps.  As we stood inside, we watched the Thai nationals who were unloading the baggage.  It was obvious they were paid by the hour and not by the piece.  

After about an hour, someone announced the bags were all unloaded 

“Listen up everyone” a voice on the PA system called out three or four times.  Finally, all the conversations ended and a strange silence filled the room.  It was as if we were all waiting for some bad news. 

“If you are assigned to one of the following units, go find your bags and get on bus number one,” the voice from nowhere blared out.  With those instructions, the voice began to read off a bunch of units.  “I am only going to say this one more time, you need to get it right,” the voice proclaimed.  With that, the list of units was repeated.  “If you are in one of the units I just called out, move out, find your bags and get on bus number one” the voice was already becoming annoying.  Guys began move  out of the waiting area into the heat, humidity, and search for their bags.

About three minutes went by and the voice started again.  A new list of units was called out with the same instructions except the bus number was now two.  This process went on for about thirty minutes.  Finally, the voice announced that everyone left would be transported to their ‘billets’.  We found out the ‘billets’ were actually a hotel in Bangkok where we would spend the night before shipping out for our duty stations the next day. 

Back into the heat, a new layer of sweat, the same odors and now we had to search for our bags.  Typical lifer BS.  

Denny looked at me and said, “You start at one end and I will start at the other.  It will save us some time finding our bags”.  The man with a plan I thought.  How did he ever get into the Army?  There was no planning in the Army.  Just fumble around until something happened.  ‘Murphys Law’ was always the rule of the day.  Anyone could make things work if they had a plan.  

We had only been searching about two minutes when Denny yelled, “Here they are”.  Thank you Lord, now we could get on those air-conditioned busses and get to a bed.  But wait, this was the military.  It was probably ninety-five degrees with ninety percent humidity.  Why would you have air-conditioned busses?  Just open the window and wonder why they could not find a few extra dollars in the military budget to buy busses with air conditioning.  They could afford two hundred dollar hammers and three hundred dollar toilet seats but no one realized the need for air-conditioned busses in Southeast Asia.  

The bus finally moved and we began to wind our way through the streets of Bangkok.  The sounds, the sights and yes the odors were not like anything I had experienced.  I had just gotten used to the architecture, unfamiliar language and unknown streets of Panama.  Now, here I was on a bus heading off in some unknown direction to start all over.  We rode along and I could not believe the congestion.  People, saamlaws, taxis, bicycles and military vehicles.  All seeming to be going different directions.  I wondered to myself if there were any traffic laws in this country.  Everyone seemed to ignore everyone else.  Vehicles, motorized and pedaled, weaved in and out as if no one else was within fifty yards of them.  Horns blowing as they deftly moved from one lane to another.  People crossing streets were in jeopardy of death and destruction.  

Shops lined the streets.  Vendors with carts on the sidewalks.  Store front cafes.  Side walks full of small wooden tables full of strange looking food items.   Stores selling watches, gold items, statues of the ‘Buddha’, hand carved items of all kinds, electronics and clothing were crammed together.   Bars, bathhouses, cheap hotels and restaurants with hand painted signs beckoning the GIs to come in and part with their ‘Baht”.  “Number One Bar” “New York Massage“  “Philly Hotel”  “My Girl Lounge” .  Who in the world came up with all these names I wondered.  

As I stared out the window at these new sights, the bus slowed down and made a short turn into a driveway.  We had arrived at our ‘billets’.   

“When you get off the bus, pick up your bags and start a line into the hotel,” the bus driver explained to us.  I was so happy to have an E-1 (Private) driving the bus.  Had he not told us what to do; I would have found a bench outside the hotel and sacked out until someone came to pick me up and take me to my next duty station.  As I passed him on the way out I could not help myself, “Man I am sure glad you are here, otherwise I would have never figured out I could stay in this Hotel for the night.  Do you know how much the rooms are?”

He replied to me with a term that was so familiar because it followed about every other sentence uttered by a typical GI.  I was intelligent enough to know that I could not possibly do what he had just told me to do, so I left the bus, got my bag and moved to the end of the line.

“Hey man come here,” Denny said as I stood in line outside the Hotel.

“No way man. You come up here, you can cut in since we are rooming together.”  

Why would I want to go to the back of the line and stand in this heat any longer than necessary?

“No man come here,” he said again this time seeming to need my help or sympathy.

“Ok man but you owe me for this one”.  Why he wanted to be last in line was beyond my comprehension. 

“You don’t want to be up there.  Trust me man, I know how it works here.” was the only explanation he was willing to give me.  

Trust.  Here was a guy I have known for 4 days.  Trust.  I trusted the Recruiter and I got myself into this mess.  Trust.  I trusted the Houseboys in Panama and had my locker raided.  Trust.  I should know better but this guy was in the ASA and going to Non Soong, he was the only person I knew in this country and he had been here before.  Of course, I trusted him.

The line moved as quickly as any line in the military, which meant it took 3 times longer than necessary to get from our position at the back of the line to the desk inside the hotel.  A couple of ‘zoomies’ inside were checking guys in, assigning them rooms and giving them flight assignments for the next morning.  

“You will be leaving at 0800 hours tomorrow.  The bus will pick you up at 0600.  Be outside at 0545.  Here are some coupons for your meals.  You can eat at 1800 here in the hotel and at 0500 in the morning.  Room 462.  Someone will knock on your door at 0430.  That will be your only wake up call.  Do not, I repeat do not miss your bus.  Questions?”  What a jerk.  This guy had no stripes, probably not been out of this hotel in 6 months and he is talking to us as if we just arrived at Basic Training.  Typical Zoomie.  But,  I must admit he had that little speech of his down pat.  I guess if you gave the same instructions other than room numbers and times about a million times a day, you could repeat it without error also.  I wonder what possessed a person to want a job checking guys into a transient hotel.  You want to talk about boring.  Sitting there day after day, repeating the same instructions, checking off names on a list and waiting for the next bus.  I would guess this guy was a Nuclear Science Major in college.  Probably graduated first in his class.  If this guy got his GED after dropping out of the tenth grade, he would have been in Officer Candidate School.  That was just the way it worked in the military.  Credentials really did not mean a thing.  Some joker somewhere plugged round pegs into square holes all the time.  

“Hey man, are you sure we are leaving in the morning?”  Denny asked the question like there was some way these highly trained Air Force dorks would admit it even if they made a mistake.

“Is there something I told you that you did not hear or understand”?  Martin was the name on his cute little name badge.  He was obviously in charge of the check in desk at this place.  I wondered if he realized this was not the recruit training depot at Parris Island.  Someone gave him this assignment because he wasn’t smart enough to cook, load bombs or refuel planes.  

“No man” Denny said meekly as he laid $10.00 on the desk, peered knowingly at the ‘zoomie’ and asked again.  “Are you sure we are leaving in the morning?’

“Hey man, sorry.  I was looking at the wrong roster here.  You will be leaving day after tomorrow.”  Martin looked at Denny nodded as if to acknowledge that Denny knew the ropes.

As Denny removed another $10.00 more from his pocket, he looked at me and asked me for $20.00.  It still had not completely set in with me.  

“What for man?”  Trust the man was the only thought I had.  

“Just give me $20.00, man.” It almost sounded like he was pleading with me.  Like an E-4 trying to convince an E-2 to pull KP for him back at Ft. Devens.  With a little hesitation, I pulled out the money and gave it to Denny.

“Looks like you guys will be leaving in a couple of days.”  For $20.00, each Airman Martin had just screwed up the entire transportation system of the US Air Force.  He looked like he had just committed treason and his eyes let us know he was feeling real bad.  However, he was forty dollars richer and he knew that we knew that no one else in the entire world knew.  There were planes flying all over Thailand all the time.  It did not make one bit of difference if we got on a plane the next day, the after that or a week from now.  We were in country.  It was not our fault the Air Force had screwed up and caused us to be delayed getting to our duty station.  In addition, Airman Martin knew he could leave Thailand at the end of his tour with more money than he ever dreamed of having and he wasn’t even signed up for savings bonds yet. 

“Make sure all your friends know we are paid up.  We aren’t going to put up with a bunch of hassle” Denny had made his point.  We paid.  Leave us alone.

“Don’t sweat it man” was his only reply.

We moved off slowly to the elevator and went to room 462.  Once in the room Denny opened the window and took a long look at the scenery.  Scenery?  The back of a bunch of old buildings, the top of a Buddhist temple, people all over the streets and those smells.  It was at this point I realized that those odors would be with me and around me until the day came for me to return to world.   Curry, fish oil, dirty laundry, sweaty socks all rolled into one. Little did I know that this entire odor came primarily from all those food stands I had passed.  They were augmented by the ’klongs’ that seemed to run beside every street in town.  Further, I did not yet realize I would be eating from those stands and thinking I had gone to culinary heaven in just a few short hours. 

“Man, I need a shower”, Denny said as he unpacked some civilian clothes and picked up a towel.

While Denny showered, I unpacked my duffle bag, peaked out the window occasionally and wondered if the air conditioning was going to keep up with the heat.  I closed the open window as Denny appeared from the shower.  

My turn.  The shower felt great.  When I opened the bathroom door Denny was sitting on the bed, bitching because the air conditioning unit was so noisy.  

“Top 10% they told us.   If we are so damn critical to the mission, why can’t they at least put us up in a decent place for a couple of days?  FTA”  Denny’s sentiments were the same as everyone else who passed through this place and he expressed them so eloquently. 

“Hey man, I am going to get some sleep.  What about you?”  There was no way you could sleep restfully on that airplane.  I just wanted a couple of hours to get over some of the jet lag.  What I really wanted to do was get something decent to eat and see some sights in Bangkok.  After all, I would probably not see Bangkok again until I left at the end of my tour.  This was my one chance and with Denny’s help, I planned to make the most of it.

“Yeah man, if you wake up first, get me up and we will get something to eat”.  With that, Denny fell back into his pillow, passed some gas, snickered, cussed the Army and fell silent.  

“Hey man, you gonna get up”.  We had been sleeping for 3 or 4 hours when Denny got up, opened the window again and pulled my pillow from under my head.

“Let’s get out of this room for a while”.  That was all the encouragement I needed to get up, get dressed and follow him.  

“You know someplace we can get some food, man”.  By this time, I was confident Denny knew his way around.

“Dig it man.  We will get some ’keow pot’ and then we will go to ’Thai Heaven:’  

Downstairs we climbed into a Taxi, Denny spoke to the driver in Thai and we were off.  

After about 10 minutes in the traffic, I asked Denny if there were any traffic laws.  The Driver weaved in and out between the taxis, ’samlaws’, pedestrians and bicycles.  Occasionally blowing his horn, he sat sideways in the seat so Buddha could keep him safe.  The cab smelled like it had not been aired out in years.  The Driver and Denny carried on a conversation in Thai while I stared out the window at the buildings and people.  After a taxi ride of about 20 minutes, we stopped in front of a sidewalk café like those I had seen on the bus ride.   As we exited the taxi, I saw what appeared to be hundreds of these little cafés.

A wood or charcoal burning stove, miscellaneous pots and pans, 3 little tables with broken down chairs and benches to sit on.  The pungent aroma was the same as the smells outside the hotel, inside the hotel, in the taxi and seemingly, everywhere you went.

We sat down at one of the tables and a little old lady smiled at us.

“Sawat dee, sa bai dee, mai Krap” Denny said.  I realized this was a greeting in Thai and hoped Denny would explain it to me as she approached us.  

“Sawat Dee” she said.

“You, GI” the woman asked, looking straight at me.

“Yes” was the best reply I could think of.  She was obviously expecting me to answer in Thai since my friend had spoken Thai to her.  But, she handled the disappointment well.

She quickly returned her attention to Denny and they began to speak in Thai.  After exchanging four or five sentences in Thai, she turned and headed for the cooking area.

“I told her to get us some ‘keow pat” and “monkey ball soup”, Denny told me.

“Ok, man.  What is that?” I asked 

“It is Thai fried rice.  Has some cucumbers, tomato, green onion, hard-boiled egg and chicken in it.  The soup is a noodle soup with little meatballs.  GIs call it ‘Monkey Ball soup’ because the meat balls are the size of Monkeys testicles.”  Denny explained what the meatballs were not, but offered no explanation as to their animal of origin.  

As we waited for our food and drinks, I asked Denny about his language skills.

“Why do they have Thai lingies at the 7th?”  I figured we were not doing any monitoring of the communications of our host country.

“It is a long story.  I can‘t tell you now.  Someday you will either figure it out or I will tell you about it.  This is not the time or place to talk about it.”  It was obvious from his expression that Denny was not going to discuss this with me.

The lady soon returned to the table with a large bowl of the fried rice and another bowl of the soup.  The rice dish looked good.  The soup had rice noodles, some unknown meatballs, bamboo shoots and some kind of green leaves floating in it.  On the side was a little bowl of what looked to me like some sort of Italian salad dressing.  Looked like vinegar and oil with little red and green peppers in it.

The ‘mamasan’ picked up a couple of metal plates, forks and spoons stacked off to the side.  Dipped them in a pot of boiling water and put them on the table in front of us.  It was not necessary to worry about cleanliness that boiling water would kill any germ alive.  

“What do I do with this?” I asked Denny picking up the dressing.

“You put that on your rice.  But you might want to taste it before you do.  It is really spicy hot.”  Denny had obviously experienced this and I appreciated him helping me out.

I picked up my spoon, dipped it into  the dressing and stuck it in my mouth.  I don’t think it was even in my mouth when I sensed this was the spiciest substance I had ever tasted.  I picked up a glass of ice water immediately and tried to cool my mouth, tongue and throat.   The sweat beads breaking out on my forehead told Denny I was truly experiencing the maximum heat from the mixture.

“Sorry, man”, he said.  

“I should have told you to put just a little big on the tip of that spoon.”  Denny seemed to be sympathetic but I think deep inside he was enjoying it.  Someone had probably put him through the same initiation into Thai culture.  I bet he had been waiting for months for a chance to do it to someone else.  Now, I was part of the fraternity of people who understood that ‘Thai hot’ was not an exaggeration.  ‘Thai hot’ was a warning.  

If Thailand were like the US every little food stand would need a warning sign.  

‘THAI HOT.  Consumption of any item cooked or uncooked  that has a concoction that looks like vinegar and oil with little peppers in it, smells like pepper, and comes in a little bowl on the side COULD LEAD TO: Stroke, heart burn, sweating, loss of memory, boils, cankers, VD, toe jams, athletes feet and a desire for a Big Mac and a trip back to the world’.


“Wow, man that is the hottest thing I have ever tasted”.  I wondered how anyone could eat anything with that stuff on it.

I decided to pass on putting the remainder of the dressing on the rice.  

We ate our rice and soup while we finished a couple bottles of “Singha“.  ‘Singha’ the breakfast of champions.  Came only in Quart bottles.  Singha was a Thai beer that really wasn’t bad.  Twenty baht for a bottle .  Today, ‘farangs’ outside of Thailand are exposed to ‘Singha’ as a premium beer at a premium price.

As we ate, we  talked about home, the 7th RRFS and complained about the Army.

Once we finished we flagged down another Cab and set out for places unknown.  

Denny immediately started speaking Thai with the Driver.  As I listened to them, it seemed the Driver was not sure where Denny wanted to go.  We wound through the narrow streets, again dodging pedestrians, saamlaws and other taxis.  Denny and the driver continued their conversation.

I sat there wondering what they were talking about, where we were going and what we would find when we got there.

After 20 or 30 minutes in the cab, I saw the Hotel we were staying in.  I asked Denny where we were going.  He looked at me and said, “I am trying to get him to find a bar I went to once when I was here”.

Bangkok was a big, congested city with what seemed like an endless number of narrow streets and alleyways.  I wondered to my self-how in the world Denny could help this guy find the place but I didn’t question him.  Trust.  Here I was in a cab with a driver who did not know where we wanted to go, a GI who thought he could find a place he had been to once in a city the size of Bangkok and me.  I could not believe we were wandering around in this cab looking for a particular bar while we passed dozens of other bars.  Trust.  As I pondered the mystery of the situation, I was amusing myself looking at all the people, seeing the sights, hearing the sounds and yes smelling Bangkok. 

The temples with their ornate architecture.  The women in their ‘sarongs’.  Shops of every description.  Sidewalk cafes.  Taxis in every conceivable color.  GIs walking the streets in their best ‘night on the town’ apparel.  People seemingly oblivious to all the American GIs around them.  Beggars.  Young ladies in their best ‘hippie’ apparel.  Unfamiliar music.  All these things and more surrounded us as we made our way through the streets of Bangkok.  As I peered out the window of the taxi, I wondered how I would survive in a culture so different from the US. 

“We’re here!”  I didn’t know where here was, but I knew we were here because the taxi pulled over and stopped.  At least I believed with all my heart he stopped because we were where Denny had told him to take us.  Maybe we were not, maybe Denny had given up and just told him to stop.  Maybe he got tired of us and told us to get out.  I had no real reason to believe we had found the place Denny was looking for and I certainly could not understand what they had been discussing.  Trust.  

As we exited the taxi, the driver got out also.  I knew it.  The guy was mad and he was going to straighten us out right there on the sidewalk.  Denny had a grin on his face and pointed to a sign.

‘THAI HEAVEN’.  

The sign on the building had the words in English and a bunch of letters in Thai that I assumed said the same thing.

We entered the building with the taxi driver.  I assumed the driver was going in to get a drink and collect our fare.  Inside I saw something that I could not believe.  There was a bar, tables and chairs, a band and a dance floor full of young Thai women.  We found a table and the driver sat down with us.  My curiosity finally evolved to the point I had to ask Denny why the driver was sitting with us.

“He will get paid for bringing us here.  The bars give them some money because they brought them some business.  If we pick up a girl, he will get more.  He will stay here for a while and if he thinks we are staying a long time he will leave”.  

We ordered a couple bottles of Singha and watched the girls dancing.  The band was playing American rock and roll.  Actually, they were not bad.  After watching for a few minutes, the music stopped and someone started speaking Thai on the sound system. The girls who had been dancing together moved off to the side and someone appeared with 10 or 15 little wooden horses. 

The music began again but this time it was some country and western song.  The girls began racing around the floor on their little wooden horses.  It was obvious there was some kind of contest going on.  Occasionally the music would stop and a girl or two would take their horses and leave the floor.  I never did figure out how they were eliminated.  This went on until there was a winner.  The prize was 20 baht (about $1.00 in those days).  With the contest over the band again began to play rock and roll again. The girls began to dance again.  They danced with each other and a couple of GIs joined in.  Denny and I sat at the table not saying much until Denny leaned over to me and asked if I saw any girl who interested me.

“Yeah man, see the one in the red blouse with the denim jeans”, I said, pointing in her direction.

As I tried to point out the one I was referring to, I noted a light shining on her.  I looked behind me and there was  the waiter with a flashlight standing behind me and pointing the light in her direction.  When I turned back, the young lady was walking toward us.  She walked over, sat down and spoke to me in Thai.  Denny looked at me and told me he was sorry.  

“I should have warned you not to point,” he said.  

“You speak Thai” she asked me.

“No” I replied.

“No sweat.  Me speak Farang, nit noi”.  

I looked at Denny for a translation.  She can speak a little English he told me.

We sat at the table, drank some Singha, listened to the music and said nothing for the next 10 minutes.  Finally, Denny got up, walked to the Dance floor, talked to one of the girls and brought her back to the table.

“Let’s split, man,” Denny said without sitting down again.

“Dig it, man.  I am ready”.  Again I followed Denny’s’ lead.

Outside the bar, accompanied by the two young ladies we hailed another taxi and returned to the hotel.

“Where do you think you are going?” asked the zoomie sitting at the check in desk in the hotel. 

“Going to our room,” Denny replied.

“You are not allowed to have Girls in the room.  Against Regulations” was the response.

“Hey man, we paid earlier”.  

“ Sorry man, I don’t make the rules but you cannot have these girls in the room”, the zoomie seemed to be determined to make sure we didn’t break any silly rules.

With that, Denny explained to him that we had paid when we checked in and had been assured everything was taken care of.  

“Look man, this is not a flop house, you are here until you get a flight out of here.  It is against regulations to have girls in the rooms.”  This zoomie seemed to feel that the regulation he referred to was actually something we cared about.  

“Why the hassle man?  When we got here, we paid your friends. That means we are paid up and we can have guests in our room.  You think I give a rat’s hind end about some silly regulation.  Just get off our case.”  The veins in Denny’s neck were beginning to show and his face was tuning a beet red.  I was sure he was going to pop an artery if this guy did not back down.

“Look man, I do not want to call the A.P.s to deal with this.  Just take the girls, go down the street and get you a room.  You are not bringing them in here.”  Regulations were dreamed up in some dark room in some headquarters building where all the lifers who had no idea about reality hung out.  They wrote these rules to keep clean cut, all American guys like us from ending up in trouble.  It was our reputations and well being they cared about.  Only problem with their approach was no one cared what they thought.  

“Ok man here is the deal.  We are going upstairs, we are taking these girls with us and we will leave whenever we want.  You can stick your regulations in your ear, call the A.P.s, call the C.I.A., the president or Buddha himself.  Until they show up and kick us out we will be in our room.”  Denny laid down the law.  He turned to me and motioned for us to go.

“You are going to regret this.”  The only reaction we could get was a warning about how bad we would feel when this whole episode was over.  Our bellies were full, we had all the Singha we wanted, two young ladies were with us and he thought we were going to regret what we were about to do.  Here we were half way around the world, we had not broken any laws that really mattered and some Air Force puke thought we cared about what might happen to us.  As we reached the elevator, we could still hear him mumbling about some regulation and why he thought everyone in the Army should be locked up.

“That guy needs to get a life.  He acts like he is paying for this whole thing.  Why in the world does he care about some stupid policy that doesn’t make sense.  It is not like we are going to do anything that is not being done in every hotel in this city.  He has got be a lifer or a FNG.”  Denny was on a roll.  He cussed the Army, Air Force, threw in the Marines, the President, Gen. Westmoreland,  the Pentagon, all the guys who were smart enough to go to Canada and a bunch of other people or groups of people who slip my memory.  

“Cool it man.  Think about this.  That idiot does not even know what room we are in.  Do you really think someone is going to search this entire hotel looking for us?”  Denny was going to ruin the evening if I couldn’t get him off his rant.  Fortunately, we had reached our room and as the door opened and we entered, he stopped his rant.

That night went by pretty fast.  It is not necessary to reveal, explain, ask forgiveness for or try to describe everything that went on in that room.  Imagination is a wonderful thing.  You can fill in the blanks.  If you were one of the thousands of GIs who passed through Thailand during that time, you know what happened.  If  not, you have no need to know.  Something’s need to go unsaid to protect the innocent.  

Dawn came before we knew it.  Denny was up and in the shower before me again.  He came out and immediately opened that stupid window.  To this day, I wonder what he  thought he would see when he opened that window.  The scenery was not going to change, the odor was not going to change, the heat was not going to change and we certainly would not wake up and find ourselves back in the world.

“Come on man, let’s get out of this room.  We can find some food and these young ladies can take us sight seeing.”  For a guy who had been in the Army over two years, Denny had this fetish about planning. 

“Can a guy at least get a shower first.”  I was perfectly content to lie in bed for a few more hours.   Denny however had other ideas.  Since I needed him because I didn’t know any of the language, I decided it was best if I got my butt out of bed, got a shower and followed  him.

Off again, trusting Denny to get us to wherever it was we were going.  Without any hesitation, he put us in another taxi, starting a conversation with the driver and we were off.   We wound through the streets of Bangkok again while Denny carried on a seemingly never-ending conversation with the taxi driver.  The young ladies we had met had their own conversation going and I just sat there wondering what was going on.  It was like being back at those dances in the High School gym again.  Everyone seemed to have something going on and I wandered around trying to fit in somewhere.  Maybe my recollection of those High School years was fading but I really don’t remember fitting in very well.  However, this was not High School anymore.  Here I was in a strange land with a guy I had known for less than a week, two girls I had known less than twenty-four hours and a taxi driver.  My mind wandered back to that little town in West Virginia where I had grown up.   I thought about all the people I had known and imagined their reaction if they could see me now.  As my mind continued to take me on its own little trip, Denny said something and the taxi stopped.  I looked through the window on the other side of the taxi and saw the most unbelievable sight I had ever seen.

“Wow, what the heck is this place” was the only thing I could say.

“This is the Grand Palace, Wat Phra Keow”, Denny sounded like a tour guide.

“I have never seen anything like this in my life”, I responded while I looked at white washed walls, the stupas standing inside the grounds and a well manicured lawn surrounding it all.

“Wait till you see the inside of this place.  It unreal”.  Again Denny responded in his best tour guide, I been here before voice.

We paid our ten baht and walked through the gate.  For the next four hours, we roamed around the grounds.  Golden Buddha’s, incense,  a mural painted on the wall that told a story of conflict and triumph, a replica of Angkor Wat and buildings that defy description.  It was all there.  The young ladies with us told us about the Chakri dynasty, Ayuthaya,  the story of the reclining Buddha and their loyalty to the King.  As we walked, I realized I had entered into a place with a history much longer than that of the U.S..  I realized the patriotism of the Thai people and the pride they had in their homeland.  I saw treasures that were invaluable.  All inside these walls and yet I had passed poverty that was unlike anything I had ever known existed.  The contrast between what I was seeing, what I had seen and the place I grew up cannot be described.  

“Hey may, lets split.”  With those instructions, Denny motioned toward the gate and we made our way toward the street.

“I gotta find something to drink man.”  My mouth was as dry as a rice paddy before the rainy season.  

“Dig it.”  Denny must have been just as thirsty as me because we headed straight toward a little side walk stand.

“Coca Cola”, was the only thing you had to say.  

Wait a minute why is she pouring my Coca Cola into a plastic bag?.  The vendor put some ice into a plastic bag, poured in the Coca Cola I had ordered, twisted one corner shut and tied it with a rubber band and then inserted a straw into the open corner.  Coke in a bag.  

Back into the taxi, a stop for some Thai food, back to the Hotel, a shower and another night like the first one.  As the sun went down over the city, Denny and I shared small talk while  waiting for the young ladies to shower.  The window was open and the setting sun from the other side of the building cast a long, dark shadow over the buildings next to the hotel.  I got up from the chair I was sitting in and looked out the window.  The narrow street next to the hotel was still full of people, taxis and samlaws.  I watched the activity below wondering how the presence of thousands of airmen and GIs affected the lives of all these people.  

There were obvious things that they gained from us being there.  Millions of dollars were being spent by our Government on the bases spread out through the country.  GI’s gladly parted with most of their paychecks buying everything known to man.  Hundreds of Thais were making a living providing GI’s with life’s essentials.  You could go to the tailor for custom-made clothes, shoes were cut and sown in whatever style you wanted, gold jewelry could be found in hundreds of shops and of course, there was entertainment.

“What are you looking at man”.  Denny’s question broke my chain of thought and stopped me from pondering the US presence in Southeast Asia.

“Just watching all the people.  Do these people ever go home?”.  I guess I really didn’t want to share my thoughts with Denny.  We had not had a serious conversation since we had met.  It was much easier to talk about home, the stupid things the Army did and complain about the amount of time we had left to serve.  Later I would discover that some deep conversations actually took place.  Discussing the war, the sentiment back home, what we really believed in, politics and even the way we perceived the Thai people would all come up at one time or another.  

We spent the remainder of our time in Bangkok sightseeing, eating and wishing we could do the rest of our time there.  Nevertheless, the morning came when it was time to move on.

“Ok man we heard you the first time.”  Someone beat on the door, paused about thirty seconds and started again.  It was time to get up, get our things together and start our final leg to the 7th.

“Someone ought to frag that guy.”  Denny was not really that upset but it was way too early for us to be getting out of bed.  

“What time is it anyway?”. I asked as if it really made a difference.  We both knew our time in Bangkok was about to come to an end.  It was 5:00a.m. On the other hand, 0500 if you were in the military.  We need to get our butts in gear, shower, shave, get dressed and get outside.  We had forty-five minutes to accomplish all this.  Of course, we also knew that bus would not leave until every name on the roster was accounted for.  A warm body went with every one of those names.  Two of which belonged to me and Denny.  When the bus pulled up the roster would be checked,  one by one the bodies associated with the proper name would get on the bus.  When every body was on the bus, the bus would take us to an air base for our flight.  

“Did they say we need to be outside at 5:45?”  I asked Denny even though I knew without a doubt they had told us exactly that.

“Man, they said the bus would pull out at six.  As long as we are there by six, I figure we are on time.  You know they won’t leave without us.  If we aren’t there they will send someone off looking for us.”  I  could tell by the tone in his voice that Denny did not intend to walk out the door of the hotel until six.  Little things like that totally upset lifers or E-2s who think their job is really important.  They just know that their clipboard and roster make them responsible for the actions of everyone on their list.  I never understood why a person with a job that really did not contribute to anyone’s well being could feel so important.  

“What’s the difference, five forty five or six, we gotta go.”  The words had hardly left my lips when Denny gave me the look.  I had just royally screwed up.  Why in the world did I say something that stupid.  I just expressed concern over fifteen minutes.  Denny looked at me wondering why I cared.  I knew and he knew we would leave this morning.  Chances are we would not leave at six.  Something would hold us up.  The bus would be late, the roster would be wrong, someone would be late.  This was the Military.  Nothing was going to happen the way it was planned.  My stupidity gave Denny a reason to question if I was one of those guys who talked the talk but when push came to shove, I would do exactly what I was told.  But, I had left myself a way out.

“I don’t know why they have to make everything such as hassle.  We will be there when we get there.”  There it was, a statement to make sure he understood that I really did not care about their schedule.  We had both been in long enough to know how far you could push it without really getting into trouble.  They could threaten us, make us get a haircut, work our butts off and many other things but we didn’t want to cross the line that ended up getting us restricted to base.  Nothing short of that was worth thinking about.

We did our thing, picked up our bags, made it to the elevator and finally to the door of the hotel.

“Where you guys been?”  A zoomie we had never seen before seemed to be concerned about us.  He asked us the question.  We knew that he really didn’t care about our activities prior to getting to the lobby.  What he cared about was our lack of enthusiasm.  He cared about the fact that we were told to be in the lobby at 05:45.  It was now five minutes past six and we had just arrived.

“Talk to the hotel man.  We been waiting on that elevator for ten minutes.”  Denny replied to the question with an answer that should have been sufficient.  

“You were told to be here at 0545 not 0605.  I ought to report you.”  This zoomie was actually upset.  He really did believe that he was important and that his importance meant something to us.

“Who you gonna tell man.”  Denny snapped off a response.

“Its guys like you who give our military a bad name.”  

“What are you gonna do man, draft us.”  The Viet Nam war was raging just a few hours away.  To any young man over 18 and not in school the draft was about the worst thing that could happen to you.  The draft typically meant one thing, a quick trip to the jungles of Viet Nam.

“Just get on the bus.  What are your names so I can check them off.”  He seemed to be suddenly enlightened.  He seemed to understand that our attitude was not going to change because of his determination to be a good trooper.

We made our way outside and found exactly what we expected to find.  No bus.  Everyone was milling around, cussing, complaining and looking up and down the street for the bus.  How did we know that in the military being five minutes late was akin to be fifteen minutes early.  

After about twenty minutes, the bus pulled up and we all found a seat.  We rode out to an Air Force base, got off the bus and into a terminal building.  To our surprise there was a plane waiting there.  The props were turning and the door on the C-130 was open.  We joined about a half dozen others who were already in the terminal.  I didn’t ask where they had stayed.  Three were officers,  one was a Thai WAC and the others were Thai soldiers. 

The three officers were obviously the reason the plane was waiting.  No plane was ever on time if their only passengers were enlisted men.  One colonel, two lieutenants.  They were involved in a deep discussion as the rest of us shuffled our feet and waited for the word to load up.  

“I wonder if that colonel got him a WAC for a Tii-Lok?”  Denny snickered as he said it.  

I guess he did not pick up on my confusion.  Tii-Lok was a subject I knew nothing about.  I could not believe we had not discussed the subject.  We had talked about so many things during our time together but the subject of ‘Tii-lok’ was not one of them.  I wondered what Denny was talking about and my mind seemed to be reviewing all  Denny had said to me trying to find a clue.  However, nothing was registering.   I guess I will figure it out at some point.

“Ok.  Get your gear and load up.”  The word came down.  We were about to leave.  One more flight from Bangkok to RTAF (Royal Thai Air Force) Base Udorn Thani.  

If you have ever ridden on a C-130 you know, it is not designed for your comfort.  Jump seats lined both side of the plane.  We made our way to a seat and strapped ourselves in.  Everyone seemed to have lost their ability to speak.  All you could hear was the engines running as you stared at the other passengers.  I wondered if all these people were going to Udorn.  Would we be making any stops in between?  How long was this flight going to be?  Other things passed through my mind as the door closed and the plane began to taxi toward a runway.  It seemed like no time passed until we made a turn and the plane started down the runway.  

The flight was uneventful except for one small accident.  No engine problems, no sudden drop in altitude, no announcements about circling in a flight pattern.  The only significant event was the problem with the Thai WAC.  We were in the air about twenty minutes when she did something that no one could believe.  She was just sitting there quietly like everyone else.  Staring straight ahead, her hands folded in her lap.   Then it happened.  She puked all over that Colonel who had set down beside her.  There were tons of empty spots on the plane.  Plenty of places to set so you would be out of the line of fire.  However, he chose to set beside our ally from Thailand.  It was a sight to see.  She had obviously had a great Thai dinner the night before.  It was all there.  Some of it puddled on the floor at her feet, some on her uniform but it seemed most of it ended up in the lap of the Colonel.  

Ten minutes after the episode the humor began to wear off.  The stench of all that puke went through that plane like a plague.  Everyone on that plane who had thought the Colonel got just what he deserved, was now wondering where we could go to keep from adding to the problem.  What was the proper thing to do.  If we really couldn’t hold it should we move to the back of the plane or put our contribution on top of the offering given by the WAC?  There had to be some regulation or standing order to tell us what to do.  Fortunately, for everyone the flight ended before the rest of us had to deposit the remains of our dinners.

The plane landed and taxied to the terminal building.  It was emptied in short order.  No one was in a hurry to get in another line.  However, everyone knew there was only one escape from the odor and the pool left on the floor by the WAC.  That escape was to get out of that plane as quickly as possible.  The zoomies who had put up with us in California, at the hotel in Bangkok and the air base we left that morning would have been proud of us.  No one had to tell us anything.  The door opened and we got off that plane.  We looked like a bunch of new recruits in basic training.  Everyone moved, no one complained and no one sat there waiting for everyone else.  Of course, none of us was too concerned about allowing the Colonel and his newfound friend to exit first.  No way.  He chose the seat, let him set there until the rest of us get some fresh air.

“You gotta be kidding me man.  Can you believe she chucked it all over that guy.  I wonder if that is why they call lifer’s ‘pukes’ ”  Those were the first words I heard from Denny since we had boarded the plane.  He was obviously enjoying the fact that it happened to a lifer.  

“Did you see the look on his face?”  I was still amazed that he continued to sit right beside her.  It was almost like he could not believe it himself.  His uniform was covered with chunks in all the colors of the rainbow.  His hat that was sitting beside him had little spots all over the top.  That black bill that had glistened so brightly was now decorated with little pieces of rice, noodles and goodness knows what else.  

“I thought all that yellow stuff on their caps was ‘scrambled eggs’.  Now I know they got the idea from some WAC who puked on a General.”  I laughed out loud for the first time as Denny slapped me on the hands and we both realized that our own stomachs were starting to settle down again.

As we continued our way to the terminal building, I realized that it was hot.  Not just hot but furnace hot.  We had not been off that plane two minutes until I was sweating.  We had just flown about as far north as we could without leaving Thailand.  The weather must have followed us.  The heat and the humidity seemed to be no different than what we had left behind.  

“Come on man.” Denny motioned at me and headed for an exit door.

I followed him out the door and we started walking down the street.  Of course, I had no idea where we were going or why we had left the terminal.  I knew I had seen a sign that said something about guys going to Ramasun Station.  The sign was over top of a phone and said to use the phone to arrange transportation.  However, I knew enough by this time to know that Denny would get us to the 7th.  

“That phone has never worked.  We are going to go out to the highway and get a ride.  By the time they arrange a ride for us we will be at the base.”  Denny said it with such conviction that I would not have disagreed even if I knew better.  Of course, I did not know better but I really didn’t feel like it mattered.

We walked out the gate of the Air Base, duffle bags in hand and out to the highway.  

The Royal Thai Air Force Base at Udorn Thani Thailand was a very busy place.  It was one of  several bases in Thailand where bombers were stationed.  As we were walking, I saw four F-4s take off.  As we walked through the gate, I was amazed again.  By now, I had come to realize that I would be amazed many more times in the next few weeks.  Amazed by the sights, sounds, people and those odors again.  The short road that ran from the main highway was lined with people and shops.  Shops selling everything and anything.  People walking to and from the base and in and out of all the shops.  However, one thing really caught my attention.  All the beggars.  It seemed the entire street was lined with people with cups or baskets begging for money.  Now I had seen beggars before but this was like nothing I had seen.  Many of these people were missing limbs, obviously deformed in some way or seemingly very mentally challenged.  Those with hands held out their hands and asked for ‘baht’.   Some just looked at you with a deep sense of need in their eyes.  I had seen poverty before but not like this.  We walked by without contributing to anyone and arrived at the highway.

It only took a minute for a taxi to pull over and pick us up.

“Bai Non Soong, Krap.”  Denny spoke to the driver.  Without even glancing in his mirror, the driver pulled onto the highway and we were heading south.  

“Kun, puut paasaa tai, dai mai?”  The tone of the the drivers voice made me realize he had just asked Denny a question. 

“Dai, krap.”  Denny responded and said nothing more.

My curiosity overtook me and I asked Denny what it was all about.

“He wanted to know if I spoke Thai.”  Denny explained the short conversation and went on to tell me more.  The Thai people are really easy to get along with he told me.  Especially if you speak the language.  They seem to respect the fact you took the time to learn their language.

“I don’t always admit I can speak their language.  Sometimes I want to know what they are talking about without them knowing it.  This place is like any other.  You have your common thieves and people who want to rip you off.  Sometimes it works to your advantage for them to think you can’t understand them.”  Denny probably didn’t realize it but this was the first negative thing I had heard him say about Thailand.  He seemed to enjoy his time there and seemed very anxious to get back.  Anxious not because he thought being in the Army was a great thing.  But, if you had to be in the Army, he seemed to think Thailand was the place to be.

We sat quietly for the rest of the ride to Nong Soong.  Past the bungalows, a vendor here or there and the rice patties.  The ride took about twenty minutes and we pulled up to the main gate to Ramasun Station.

The gate was not much.  I guess I thought the main entrance to a base that was kept under a wrap of secrecy would be much more secure.  The base was surrounded by chain link fence about 8 feet tall.  A few guard towers were visible.  A small building sat in the middle of the driveway on to the base.  An MP and two Thai Army guards manned the post.  On each side of  the guard shack, a gate extended across the drive.  Not anything special, just a single pole like one you would see at a railroad crossing.  

“Krapkun, maak.”  Denny spoke again to the driver, handed him a dollar and we got out of the cab.  Denny had spoken about ten words in Thai since we arrived at the air base in Udorn.  I was beginning to realize there were some things that I needed to be able to say in Thai.  Things that would get me a taxi ride, get me to town, help me buy a coca cola.  At that point, of my tour in Thailand I could not think of anything else I would need to say to a person who could not speak English.

“You guys just get in country?  I need to see your orders,”  The MP said to  us as we approached the gate.

“I am just getting back from the world.  My buddy here just came in from Panama.”  Denny told the MP everything he wanted him to know.  

We pulled our orders out and handed them to the MP.  He looked them over briefly and told us to go on. 

“Since you know the deal man, show your buddy where to go.”  The attitude was not like we had seen from the people at the hotel and air bases.  This MP seemed only to want his shift to end.  Sure, he checked to make sure we were supposed to be on the base.  Once he determined this, he just didn’t seem to care about anything else.  

We walked down that long road to the headquarters building.  As we walked along the heat and humidity seemed to be even worse than it was before.  Little did I realize that I would walk this long road untold numbers of times during my stint in country.  The only building between the main gate and the headquarters building was all closed up at the time.  Later I would learn it housed the Class 6 store.  The walk continued.  It took about 5 minutes for us to get to headquarters but it seemed like an eternity.  I would learn later in my tour that the walk was a lot longer after spending several hours or all night in Udorn.  The longer you spent in Udorn during your free time the longer that road got.  The first building you would arrive at was the headquarters building.  Everything else was past headquarters.  The furthest barracks from headquarters was about a five-minute walk under normal conditions.  Normal conditions did not exist when you were returning from a visit to Udorn. 

“Hey man, I am back and I brought a butler with me.  Do you think the Army has any rules against me having a butler?”  Denny obviously knew this company clerk,  

“Don’t give me a bunch of your crap today man.  I am not in this man’s Army to put up with you and your FNG”.  It sounded somewhat harsh.  But the look on his face told me that he was just ragging on Denny.

You needed to have a thick skin to be in the Army.  Either you had a thick skin or your life was more miserable than you could ever believe.  Guys who could not take the seemingly constant remarks about everything sacred to you, just did not fit in.  You had to know that most of the people you served with felt just like you did.  The badgering, comments about your sister, girlfriend, mother, lack of education, stupidity for joining the Army and anything else they could think of was just a way of letting you know you fit in.  Well, you fit in if you did not take any of these things seriously.  The minute you took offense to that comment about your sister, the Green Bay Packers and the police reports, you opened yourself up for more.  Maybe nothing worse, but definitely more.  You now had no friends.  What you had was a constant reminder that you were not accepted.  Your only escape was to hook up with the lifers, drink beer, go bowling and study for your proficiency pay test.  Maybe you could make Sergeant and be a room supervisor.  Then you could re up, get your VRB, ask for a tour on Shemya and be an E-6 in less than 4 years.  All these things needed to matter to you because you did not matter to all the guys doing their time with a single goal.  ETS.

“Do you need anything from supply?  Since you were here before you don’t need to process in but your buddy will have to.”  The clerk was pulling some forms from his desk drawer and obviously addressed his conversation toward Denny.

“No man, I got all my stuff.  All I need is a bunk.  I will help Buck find his way around since I got nothing better to do.”  Denny offered his help with no hesitation.

“Here you go man.  Denny can show you where to go.  It shouldn’t take very long.  ”  That was the only guidance I was going to get from this guy.

“OK, man.”  I didn’t see any need for asking any questions.  Denny had guided me this far and I felt sure he would get me through the process and into my barracks.

The clerk was right about one thing.  Processing in was not an ordeal.  Down to the supply room to pick up some jungle fatigues, a pair of jungle boots and some socks.  Then back to the clerk’s office.  He had taken our orders during our first visit and apparently had everything he needed.  He directed me to go to the security office to pick up my badge then go out to ops and they would tell me when to report for work.

“Let’s go.”  Suddenly Denny seemed to be in a hurry.  

I followed him to the S-2 office, they took my picture, made me a badge and sent me on my way. We walked toward the barracks and I scoped the place out as we walked along.  

“Over there is the theatre, PX and swimming pool.  There is a library there, a little radio station, a barbershop and bank.  I never was in the library.  The theatre is usually overcrowded and you gotta wait in line to see a movie.  I was in the pool once.  The N C O club is down there, the chapel is over there and the mess hall is that way.  These are the barracks where the zoomies, cooks, clerks, MPs and maintenance guys stay.  All the Ops guys are in these three buildings.  We can leave your stuff in my area until you go out to ops.  You will probably be on days, which means we will be in the same barracks.  If not I will show what area you will have to be in.  You are gonna freak out when you see the area.”  Denny had turned into an unpaid tour guide.  He pointed and motioned at one building after another while we walked along.

The barracks looked pretty nice.  Two story buildings with steps up the fronts and back, all concrete and the landscaping was well maintained.  Landscaping is kind of a misnomer.  There was a tree or two here and there but it was mostly just grass.  Neatly trimmed, green as could be and no weeds.  I did not have to ask who mowed the grass.   About a half dozen Thais were outside working on the lawns.  They moved about slowly.   They obviously were not rushed to get anything done but you could tell they kept things looking pretty nice.  I wondered if the inside of the barracks were as well maintained.

We entered the barracks and I quickly realized why Denny said I would freak out.  The building was divided into two sections on each floor.  In between there was a day room and the toilet and shower areas.  In each section, bunks, wall and footlockers lined the walls.  The section was set up with little areas divided by wall lockers.  The design called for two bunks and the appropriate wall lockers in each area.  However, due to the over crowding each area had three bunks with the appropriate wall and footlockers.  It was crowded and congested.  The only thing missing was people.  

“This barracks is for guy’s working days.”  Denny made the statement, which needed no further explanation.  

We quickly found the space that Denny had been assigned to and he began to put his things away.  He had barely started when a young Thai woman walked in from the day room area.  I know the look on my face said it all.  I could not understand why this woman was roaming around the barracks.

She smiled at us said something in Thai and handed us some towels and washcloths.

“Wow man, what is this?”  I asked Denny the second dumb question I had asked during the time we knew each other.  Denny would have answered me but he had started talking to the young lady in Thai.

“Her name is Lek.  She is our house girl.  She does the laundry, cleans your shoes, keeps the place clean and makes sure we have toilet supplies.  They will take some money out of your pay each time to pay her.”  Denny said all this as if this was a common practice in the Army.  

The situation with the house girls took a little getting used to.  They showed up early, stayed late and did a good job.  However, it was a little hard to get used to them walking around the barracks all the time.  G Is leaving the showers with nothing but a towel wrapped around them, sitting in the day room using language that they would never use in front of you mothers and just generally being guys.  None of this seemed to bother the house girls.  They spent most of their time in the day room, washing, ironing and folding clothes.  Nevertheless, once they had everything ready they brought it to your bunk and laid it neatly on your bed or footlocker.  

“Man I gotta go out to ops.  The clerk told me to get out there to find out when I go to work.”  I knew I had to get it done.  I figured I would have to start work in a couple of days but I wanted to use the free time as an opportunity to find my friend John who should already be there from Panama.

“Dig it, man.  Just walk out the back door and you will see the ops building.  I am going to crash for a while.’   Denny had been a great help to this point but obviously was not going to walk me out to the ops building.  Apparently, he thought I was smart enough to take on this task by myself.  FTA

CHAPTER :   . . - - -  (2)  The Box

I was met by a guard at the Gate and dutifully showed him my badge.  He looked it over and let me pass through the gate.  I was now about fifty feet from the entry door to ‘The Box’.  

‘The Box’ was used everywhere.  If there was an ASA station with a permanent or semi permanent operations building it was called ‘The Box’.  ‘Ops’ was used at times but everyone knew what ‘The Box’ meant.  It was not hard to understand how the terminology evolved.  The building was windowless, it was like working in a box every day.  Air conditioners kept the building comfortable and it was divided into a number of rooms.  The rooms were divided by working groups.  Lingies, mill monkeys, cryptos and other sections were in every box depending on the mission for that area.  And of course, there was a communications center.  

I walked down the hallway  and up an area where the Trick Chief had an office.  I told the Spec 5 sitting there that I had just come in from the world and was here to get my work assignment.

“Wait here man, I will be right back.”  As he told me that, I immediately figured I would be standing there for thirty minutes or more.  This was the Army no one left you and came right back.  There had to be a bunch of forms to fill out, people to shoot the breeze with, coffee to be drunk, cigarettes to be smoked and maybe even lunch to be eaten.  No way would this guy be right back.  No one in the Army had ever come right back.  I barely had time to think all these things when he appeared with an E-7 at his side.  

“I am Sergeant Adams.  I am the Days Trick Chief.  Where you coming from.”  Sergeant Adams must have been totally bored.  I could not believe he came back with the E-5 as quickly as he did.

  “I was in Panama.”  I told him all he needed to know.  After all the Army put our names on our fatigue shirts so we would not forget who we were and since he was an E-7, I assumed he could read.

“They called down here and told me you came in with Denny.”  There was obviously one person on this place who knew Denny.  That could be a good thing or a bad thing.  

“Yeah, we met in California.”  Again, the best way to handle things in the Army was to tell them a little as possible.  You could never know for sure where they were headed. 

“Let me give you some advice, stay clear of that guy.  I don’t why they let him leave and come back here.  He’s got a bad attitude.  I don’t need bad attitudes.  All I ask is that you guys do your jobs and never forget you are in “ my Army“.  I don’t do this for fun, I do this because I love it.”  Sergeant Adams was obviously a very sick man.  I did not ask him how long he had been in the Army or why he stayed.  I did not care.  I knew he did not like Denny and probably did not like anyone else in the building who had not reenlisted at least once.  The best thing for me to do at this point was keep my mouth shut.

“You are on the day shift.  Be here at 0545.  Let me show you the room you will be working in.  Remember 0545, not a minute after and you need to get a haircut before then.”

Sergeant Adams was not a happy camper.  I wondered if he ragged on everyone or just figured I was new and didn’t know any better. 

“This is your section, your Room Supervisor is Sergeant Woods. He is up at the mess hall right now, you can meet him in the morning.  He is a good soldier,  keep your ducks in a row and you will get along fine.”  Sergeant Woods was obviously a puke.  If not, why would Sgt. Adams make sure he told me what a good soldier he was.  But I will cross that road tomorrow.  My buddy from Panama was in the same room I was being assigned to.  

“Hey John, what’s up man?”  I must have broken his train of thought when I called his name. His face told me that he was not having a good day.

“Hey man, did you just get here?”  

“Yeah man.  They told me I would be in this room.”  

“I get out of here at six man“.  Why don’t you meet me at the mess hall a little after six.”  John did not seem to be interested in a long conversation.  

“Ok man, I will see you later.”  With that said, I figured I would go back to the barracks unpack and hang out until time to meet up with John.

The other guys in the room with John, nodded their heads or said something like ’what’s  happening’ as I walked out.  They all seemed to be busy and a nod or short verbal acknowledgement of my existence was all the acknowledgement a nug could expect.

Back in the barracks, nothing much was happening.  A couple guys were lying on their bunks, a couple were in the day room chatting with the house girls and that was the extent of activity.  I found the bunk I was assigned to and unpacked.  After finishing, I picked up a magazine I saw laying around and laid down.  I really had no interest in anything in the magazine but I really had nothing else to do.  Denny was on his bunk and sleeping like a baby already.  The other guys were reading or listening to music.  I laid down the magazine, picked up a towel and headed for the shower. 

“Hey man, you an FNG?”  One of the guys in the day room asked me as I headed toward the showers.

“Yeah man, just got here from Panama.  Everyone calls me Buck.”

“I’m Bo.”  Bo was like everyone else.  No one seemed to use or many times even know your real name.  Nicknames or last names were the common way everyone was known.  If you were known by your first name, it was because no one had figured out a way to shorten your last name or hang  you with a nickname.  

“You been out to ops yet.”  Bo seemed to want to get into a real conversation.

“Yeah I was there.   The Trick chief showed me where to go, I saw a guy I knew from Panama for a minute and left.”

“Who did you know in Panama?”, Bo asked. 

“ A guy named John” In Panama John was known as John Fred or Coach.  John loved sports but was not the most athletic person you ever met.  However, he could coach.  He yelled and screamed, rooted us on and generally played the role.  He coached our Trick Softball team and we actually had a decent team.  At that time, the term “Right On” was common among the African American GIs and to a lesser extent with the white guys.  Our trick team adopted a slightly different name for our team.  We became the “HO” trick.  We were hard to deal with if you get my drift.

“I don’t know when he got here.  We left Panama at the same time but he got here before me.” I responded to Bo with the only way I knew to help him recognize my buddy.

“Ok man.  I know who you mean.  He got here about a week ago.  He’s cool.”  Bo’s acknowledgement of John let me know that he had been accepted, at least by Bo.

“What you watching?”  The TV was on and Bo had obviously been watching it while he chatted with the house girls.

“Man all you can get here is AFVN.  All the great shows, reruns of Andy Griffith and all the crap no one  wants to watch.  I went to town last night and I just don’t feel like doing anything else right now.  I am on break today and just wanted to chill out.”  Bo’s explanation for sitting around the barracks watching TV was sufficient.  Without saying it, I knew he had spent a long hard night in town.  We had all been there.  In Panama, we called it ‘bleeding’.  You spent a lot longer in town than you should have and you paid for it the next day.  When someone told you they were ‘bleeding really bad’, you knew they had a rough night.  You really bled when you left town, took a shower, got dressed and went to work.  No sleep, too much ‘Singha’ and goodness knows what else contributed to your condition..  

“I can dig it.”  Nothing else needed to be said.

“Have you met Lek?”  Bo pointed to the house girl as she smiled, put her hands together and bowed  her head to me.

“Yeah man, I saw her when I brought my things in earlier.  Denny told me she is our house girl.”

“My bunk is on the other side.  Our house girl is Nit.” Bo explained.

With this, I now knew Bo, Denny, John, Nit and Lek.  At this rate, I would know everyone on base in just a few days. 

“I am going to get a shower man.  John asked me to meet him at the mess hall around six.”  I really wanted to get a shower and catch a nap before meeting up John.  Not that I was trying to impress anyone, I just needed a cat nap and a shower.

“Dig it man.  Yell at me before you leave and I will walk over with you. I hope you like roast beef.  We had it five days in a row now.  Odds are we will have it again tonight”  Bo must have believed he would feel a lot better by dinnertime.  I finished my shower, shaved, used the toilet and headed back to my bunk.  

“Hey man, you a FNG?”  One of the guys I had seen sleeping earlier was awake and talking to me.

“Yeah man, just got in country from Panama.”  I am sure he did not care where I had come from.  But, I cared because he needed to understand that I was new to the 7th but I was not right out of school.  It was important.  Guys right out of school were FNGs.  Guys who had been at another duty station were new but not treated like those right out of school.

“My name is Jack. I guess you are on days.”

“Yeah man.  Just got back from ops.  Met Sgt. Adams.  Typical puke.”  

“Man that guy is all Army.  I think he joined when he was 8.  He thinks everything about this place is just great.  He can go bowling whenever he wants,  they have ten cent beer nights at the NCO club, he has his own room and he can hassle us.”  Jack had an obvious dislike for our Trick Chief.  This feeling was not uncommon.  There were very few guys in Ops who liked the Trick Chief, not just in Thailand but in all of Southeast Asia.

“Man I got that impression and I only talked him about two minutes.”

“Yeah but at least you are on days.  Once you get off work they pretty much leave you alone but, I don’t think I could handle mids.”  Very few people liked working mids.  Not that the work was any different but the idea of working all night was depressing.  At least on days you could catch a nap and head for town.  

“What is swing shift like?”  Jack had mentioned days and mids but nothing had been said about the swing shift.  

“There ain’t no swings man.  Just day and mids.  Six in the morning to six in the evening or six at night to six in the morning.  Twelve hours a day.  If we are lucky we break every twelve or fourteen days.”  Jack was depressing me.  

I had just spent thirteen months in Panama.  Days was seven to three, swings three to eleven and mids eleven to seven.  We rotated through so everyone worked all three shifts.  The mission on swings and mids was not as broad as days.  When your trick went on mids or swings it was common for you to go back and work days or swing shift.  The mission on days required more manpower so swings and mids would fill in.  When you worked mids, it was common to only work four days out of seven and if you caught a break maybe even 3.  Now, here I was in a place where they worked twelve-hour shifts and got a day off every twelve or fourteen days.  No wonder John looked so depressed.

“Are  you kidding me man.”

“I wish man, but that is the way it is here.  Not enough people for the mission.  They already have three of us packed into an area where there should only be two bunks.  Even if we had enough people to rotate shifts we wouldn’t have a place to put them.”  Now Jack was really depressing me.

“That is ridiculous.”  I looked over to where Denny was still asleep and wondered why he had not shared this bit of information with me.

“Yeah man, a lot of time in the box.  But, once you get out of there they pretty much leave you alone.”  Jack seemed to have accepted the long hours.  Not that there was anything anyone could do.  You just had to resign yourself to the fact and make the best of the free time you had.

“Hey Jack what’s happening?”  Denny had just woke up and called out to Jack.

“Nothing man.  Did you just get back.”

“Dig it man.  Buck and I flew in together today.  Spent some time in Bangkok first.”  Denny grinned as Jack shook his head.

“Man I don’t know how you do it.  You know they are going to find out that you were just hanging out in Bangkok.  You are going to get busted before it’s all over.”  Jack was a little older than Denny and I and was doing his best to counsel Denny on steering clear of trouble.  Maybe the comments by Sgt. Adams should be taken a little more seriously.  I had made a practice of keeping my mouth shut and flying below the radar.  Just admitting I had spent some time with Denny had put me on at least one radar screen.  

“I am going to catch a nap and then meet up with my buddy John.”  I had no idea what would happen after I met up with John but if it turned into an all nighter this might be my last chance to get some sleep for a while.

“You gonna go eat man?”  I do not know how long I slept but I awoke to Bo slapping me on the foot.

“Yeah man, what time is it?”  As my eyes opened slightly I tried to get my bearings.  It took a few seconds for me to remember where I was and who this guy was who had broken up my dreams.

“It’s about five till 6.  The day shift will be leaving.  By the time we get to the mess hall, those guys will be leaving the box.  We can wait outside for John.”  Bo seemed to have a plan.

“Hey Denny, you gonna eat? Bo and I are going to walk over to the mess hall and meet up with my buddy John.  You wanna go?”  Denny was already awake and was lying on his bunk staring at the ceiling.

“Let me go to the head and I will go with you.”  Denny got up from his bunk, grabbed a shirt and headed for the john.  A few minutes later, he returned and the three of us headed for the mess hall.

The walk to the mess hall only took about three minutes.  As we walked past the first barracks in the row, you could see guys leaving the box and walking slowly toward the barracks.  As we arrived at the mess hall, the first guys to leave the box were just getting there.  It seemed that everyone said the same thing as they passed by.

“What’s up man.”

“Same old thing, another day in the box.”

“Dig it man.”

Those three sentences were repeated over and over.  Guys acknowledged each other, opened the door and disappeared into the mess hall.  Finally, John came around the corner with three other guys.  

“This is Buck.  We were in Panama together.  This is Stutz,  Cowboy and Billie Jack.”   John made the introductions.  Each of the guys responded with some sort of gesture and a handshake.  Not just any handshake.  The handshake of the time involved wrapping your hand around the thumb of whoever you were shaking with.  More times than not it was followed up with something like “Peace brother”.  

“Hey Denny, when did you get back? Hey Bo how was your break?”  Stutz, Cowboy and Billie Jack all knew Denny and seemed only slightly interested in Bo‘s day of break.  

“I got back today.”  Denny offered no more information than that.

We went into the mess hall, signed in and got in line like everyone else.  As we went through the line, everyone seemed to be resigned to the fact that the meat of the day was roast beef again.  There was a brief discussion about how many days in a row they had eaten roast beef.  Everyone filled their trays, we found a table and set down to eat.

“Man, I gotta get out of here.  Buck, you can’t believe this place.  Twelve hour shifts.  By the time, you get a day of break you are a zombie.  The lifers are a bunch of idiots.  I don’t know if I can make it.”  John had only been here a week and already he wanted out. 

“Yeah, Bo filled me in.  I guess I will be working days at least.”  I wanted to put as much of a positive spin on things as I could.  

“Well man, I guess it is time to write to my congressman.  How can they have all those extra people in Panama and not enough here to give a guy a day off.”  John was ready to get writers cramp addressing the issues.  During our tour in Panama, we teased him about all the time he spent writing his congressman.  I think he was the only guy in the Army who spent most of his pay buying stationary and stamps so he could write his congressman.  

“Man you can forge it.  First, I think they censor all of our mail.  I guarantee you any letter addressed to some congressman gets opened and probably put in a burn bag somewhere.  It is for sure, it will never get to Washington.  Besides that, if it did get there nothing is going to happen.  Man they won’t even admit what is going on in Laos and Cambodia do you think they are going to worry about you getting a day off.”  Stutz put an end to the conversation about writing letters.  He, like all the rest of us, realized that this was our station in life until the day of our DEROS came around.   We needed to count down our days, get by the best we could and hope the real war didn’t spill over to our area.  Everyone continued to swallow the garbage they gave us to eat as best they could and the topics of conversation changed.  We talked about the latest albums that had arrived at the PX, who had a recent copy of Newsweek, had anyone received a care package from home and anything else that kept us from talking about the Army.

After eating as much of the garbage they called food at the mess hall as we could, we left.  It was almost a relief to walk from the mess hall into the heat and humidity of the outside.  The food was that bad.  We walked along without saying much until Stutz and Billie Jack split to go the the little PX on base.  We arrived at the barracks and went back into the nice cool air. 

Air conditioning was not a luxury at the 7th.   All the buildings except for some warehouse areas had air conditioning.  

As we walked into the barracks introductions were made.  As the new guy, I was introduced to everyone in our area of the barracks.  I guess it was too much effort to walk to the back portion because we never did.  The guys in that part of the barracks would have to wait to meet the ‘nug’ some other time.  Not that it really mattered.  

The rest of that evening was spent making small talk, playing some cards and listening to whatever music was playing.  Several guys in our areas had stereos.  Some would have their headsets on as they entered their own little world and listened to their favorite music.  There was always at least one person who had their speakers hooked up and something playing so that everyone could hear.  There was no protocol or methodology. However, there was always music.  Janis Joplin, The Who, The Beatles, Jimi Hendrix, James Taylor, Carole King were just a few of the popular artists of the day.  The Woodstock album was also played regularly.  

At some point guys started turning down their bunks and going to bed.  Again, there was no real protocol for this.  Everyone knew that we would all be in the ‘box’ at six in the morning.  It was just common courtesy to turn off the music, the lights and create an atmosphere that allowed everyone to get some sleep.  If you were on break, you were expected to respect the fact that other guys had to work the next day.  Not that everyone had that much respect for others.  It was not uncommon for someone, who had just returned from their attempt to drink all the “Singha” in Thailand, to barge into the barracks in the middle of the night.  Usually they felt the need to shout.  ‘What the hell are you guys doing’ was a common way to insure everyone in the section woke up.  This was usually followed by a flurry of expletives that would make a sailor blush.  The idiot  would then stumble to his bunk and pass out.  The one positive that came from these episodes was a topic of discussion.  The next day at work, you would inevitably mention the rude awakening of the night before and express your sentiments.  As time passed, you recognized there were only 2 or 3 guys who were so inconsiderate.   The rest either came back just in time to shower, eat and go to work or they spent the night in a cheap hotel or a bungalow.  

0500 came and someone started moving around and waking people up.  I do not ever remember hearing an alarm clock.  However, at the appropriate time someone inevitably woke up.  This was not basic training where some DI came screaming through the barracks banging on a trash can.   You just woke up with everyone else and started getting ready for the day.  

The one decision you did not have to make regarded the clothing for the day.  OD Green.  Every day.  Some of the guys made sure they went to the mess hall to eat while others figured it wasn’t worth the effort for more powdered eggs.  Two things the army never seemed to run out of were powdered eggs and roast beef.  Finally, the trip to the box began.

Usually you would see 2 or 3 guys walking together.  Each kind of stumbling down the little grade in his own little world.  Complaining about the army, the ‘minute’s race’, haircuts, the food and miscellaneous other subjects were the only conversations normally heard.  As you approached the gate, you made sure your badge was visible.  The guard at the gate would look at your badge, nod or sometimes speak and you would enter another world.

The box was divided into several sections.  You had lingies, O5Hs, cryptos, the comm center among the areas.  The O5H section was always the largest.  O5Hs were the ‘mill monkeys’.  12 hours a day sitting at your pos, head sets on your head, your hands on the keys and your mind somewhere else.  After spending a few months in the field, you could be an O5H and never think about what you were doing.  Remember Pavlov’s dogs?  That was the life of an 05H.  Hear a sound and react.  Talk to your buddy, smoke a cigarette, eat a sandwich, drink a cup of coffee and put onto paper what you heard in your headsets.  All this being done in a semi automatic way.  Semi Automatic because you had to notice if your cigarette went out, your sandwich was finished or you needed another cup of coffee.  On and on it went.  30 minutes for lunch and then, back at it.  Occasionally something out of the ordinary would happen and there would be a flurry of activity followed by the same old routine.  In the “Godfather”, someone said ‘this is the life we have chosen’.  No 05H could honestly say they chose to be a ‘ditty bopper’.

05Hs were the nut cases in the box.  These were they guys that everyone thought came up one bulb short on their Christmas tree, one brick short of a load.  Basically they were right.  05Hs would do just about anything to break the monotony.  They were so glad to leave the box at the end of their shift that they would consider and probably try just about anything.  Sometimes it even spilled over into the box.

Walking his buddy around the building on his hands and knees with a dog collar and leash was one example.  Sitting at the ‘duck pond’ with enough crackers to feed all the ducks in Thailand, while wearing your ‘Class A’s’ and talking to the ducks was another.  Setting the ‘chad box’ on fire with your cigarette happened but not frequently.  Smearing carbon paper on your buddies head sets.  These were all things that 05Hs did on a semi regular basis just to do something besides listen to those ‘dits and dahs’.  However, there was one incident I remember and it was a classic.

It seemed ’Wells’ had once again crossed paths with the lifers.  What he did, I do not recall.  His list of infractions would take hours to recap.  What he did to get assigned the job as ‘house mouse’ was not important.  Nevertheless, on this day the ‘house mouse’ became a person of legend.  You see the ‘house mouse’ had the important job of making coffee, keeping the sugar and creamer full, making sure there were enough cups available and just generally insuring the gallons of coffee consumed each day were available.  

“Hey Buck, I want you to know I think you are doing a great job today as Room Supe”.  Wells barged into the section I was assigned to and blurted out this accolade for no apparent reason.  “You really have these troops motivated today.  I been noticing that everyone in your section is working their tails off.  I don’t know how you do it but if you keep it up, they may allow you to do this everyday”, Wells said.  The smoke he was blowing was unbelievable.  I was only filling in as “Room Supe”.  I do not remember why and it is not important. 

“Man, I don’t know what is going on but this room has been going nuts today”.  I realized that something unusual was happening that day but I had no idea why and really didn’t care.  Bucking for a promotion was not my intent.  I had no desire to stay in ‘this mans Army’ any longer than necessary.   I was like Bradley, I did it because I was trained to do it, not like Patton who ‘Loved It”.  However, Wells was right, everyone seemed to be working extremely hard.  I mean, here we were in an air-conditioned building and guys were actually sweating.  Really strange for an 05H to sweat for any reason.  Except during an occasional romp in town.

“Buck”, was all I heard as Sgt. Woods walked up behind me.

“What’s up”, was my reply.

“I want to let you know that your efforts today in motivating these men have not gone unnoticed.  Every section is doing their duty to the extreme today.  I want you to let these men know how proud I am of them and I hope they now realize the importance of our mission here and the critical roll they are playing.”  As Sgt. Woods spoke these words, I noticed beads of sweat running down his cheeks.  At first, I thought he was so happy we weren’t giving him a hard time that he was crying.  However, he was not shedding tears he was sweating bullets.

“Sarge, I have no idea what is going on”, I said as I tried to figure out what was happening.

After Sgt. Woods left the room, I realized that I had been scurrying around all morning myself.  I too had broken a sweat.  About that, time Wells re entered the section and began to decipher the happenings of the morning.

“Hey man did you see Sgt. Woods” Wells asked me innocently.

“Yeah man he just walked out of here.” I told Wells that he had left and figured Wells would leave to find him.

“I think I figured out what is going on, man.”  Wells seemed to have some knowledge of the day’s activity that he felt he needed to share with me.

“When I made the coffee this morning I put a couple of dozen hits of speed in the coffee urn.”  As Wells finished his explanation, he certainly got my attention.

“You, did what?” I asked in disbelief.

“Yeah man, I did it.  The whole building is on a buzz.” Wells chuckled and fled the room.  He probably told everyone in the building below the rank of E-6 what he had done.  Sure enough, there were a lot of people heading to town after that shift.  Might as well go to town because if you drank more than 2 cups of coffee that day, you were not going to sleep.  

This was life in the box or an 05H.  12-hour days.  Many of the targets you tried to copy had lousy equipment, Laotians and Cambodians were poorly trained, they would repeat the same things over and over because the other end could not understand, VVVVVVs (di di dit dah, di di dit dah, and on an on).  They sent VVVVs assuming the person they were communicating with could not hear them and needed to tune their receiver.  How many VVVVVs did I hear?  If  I had a dollar for every V, Bill Gates would look like a pauper.

The mission was simple.  Find your target, copy the ‘dits and dahs’, make comments when appropriate and do this for 12 hours a day.  If you were there you remember the targets, your remember the ‘cut numbers’,  you remember the ‘languages’, you remember the ‘call signs’, you remember the ‘minutes race‘. You don’t remember every detail.  You can’t remember every detail of all the hours you spent there.  However, you remember what the room looked like.  You remember your buddies.  

Most important you remember the day you walked out of the ‘box’ for the last time.  FTA

CHAPTER :   . . - - -  (3)  The Fourth of July 

It was the 4th of July, or maybe Memorial or Labor day.  After a period, the days began to run together.  The only date you knew for sure was today’s and the day you would ETS.  Whatever it was, it was time for a cook out at the 7th RRFS.

Special Services were in charge of planning activities for us.  They organized softball, flag football and basketball programs along with some other activities.  This day they had decided to have a cook out just like back in the ‘world’.  The mess hall would be closed after breakfast.  The plan was to set up BBQ pits by the ball fields and grill burgers and hot dogs, have cole slaw, baked beans, potato salad and all the trimmings of a summer cook out with your family.  In addition, yes there would be plenty of liquid beverages for those who wished to partake.  Those who wished to partake included about 99.9% of the people on base.  With all the food, there would also be live entertainment.  Bands from nearby Udorn had been hired and would play our favorite ‘lock and loll’ songs from noon until 2100.  Wow!, were we excited.  We could save the taxi or ‘lao lao truck’ fare and the cost of Singha to go into Udorn and hear the same bands.  It was going to be a great time.  All this for the benefit of us.  Bob Hope apparently was busy that day.

Several of us decided it was worth the effort to walk to the ball field, get a burger and a beer and check out the music.  I had arranged to meet a female I knew quite well at the gate and sign her in for the day.  I felt it was the honorable thing for me to do since the Thais did not celebrate 4th of July and she had treated me well.  How could I deprive this young lady of such a glorious event as a picnic on an Army base.  Anyway, I asked her and she said she would like to come with me.  I met her at the gate about 1145 hours and signed her in.  

At the ball fields, there was a flurry of activity.  Like most everything else the Army did, the plan for the day was not working out quite the way we had been told.  First, the BBQ pits were just being set up.  No charcoal burning, no burgers cooking, no cold beverages.  We were told to enjoy the music and food and drinks would be available in about 30 minutes.  Therefore, we took a seat on the grass and waited while one of the local bands set up.  Well, first they had to put all their equipment on the stage that had been set up, then plug everything in and then tune up.  All this took about the same amount of time it took to fire up the grills and cook some food.  Of course, we sat patiently in the grass and waited.  Being the gracious people we were, we did not want to complain because the Army was allowing us to have this small piece of home.  

 You can imagine how gracious a bunch of GI’s were when nothing they had been told about the event was actually happening at the time planned.  Here we were, we got puked on for being 5 minutes late for work, not getting our haircut and a multitude of other things.  However, the screwballs at Special Services couldn’t even pull off a picnic on time.  We groaned and moaned, shouted a few obscenities and let the lifers know how we felt about their picnic.  Finally, there were some burgers cooked, some beer chilled and some trimmings on the tables.  This somewhat satisfied the group that had assembled.  The band that performed first finally figured out how to tune their instruments and started playing.  For the next couple of hours things went along as well as could be expected.  Then, the action really started.

A well-known group from one of the Bars in Udorn took the stage and began to play.  They were a popular band with the guys from the 7th and the club they played in was frequented often by those heading for town.   As they played, it appeared some of those gathered were actually starting to think this was a good idea.  The food was plentiful by this time, the beverages were cold and well stocked, the sun was not as hot as it had seemed earlier and even the lifers seemed to be content.  The lifers of course could not understand why they weren’t playing more Sinatra or Crosby tunes but they understood that most of us had a slightly different taste in music.  Finally, the band announced they were going to do some Hendrix tunes.  This was the beginning of the end of the 4th of July cookout.

Their first choice was ‘All Along the Watchtower’.  They followed this with a good version of ‘Foxy Lady’.  That was when the proverbial dung hit the fan.  Their next choice was to do the ‘Star Spangled Banner’, the way Hendrix did it at Woodstock.  It took a couple of bars for the lifers to sober up enough to recognize what they were playing.  The whole atmosphere began to change.  I feel confident that calls were made to General Westmoreland, the Joint Chiefs, the President and the National Security Agency.  Apparently, a bunch of communist, pinko thugs had taken over the 7th.  The base had been over run by intruders from Communist China and the Russians were close behind.  This could not be happening on a US Army installation of this stature.  There is no way the blue blooded, all-American, right-wingers who made up the ASA could allow this on their base unless the base had fallen into the hands of our enemies.  The band continued and got about to the part that asks “Oh say does that Star Spangled Banner yet wave o’er the Land of the Free and the Home of the Brave?’ when the speakers went silent.  The plugs had been pulled and the ‘lock and loll’ music was about to end.  Before anyone realized what had happened some puke Lieutenant took the stage and announced “Playing the Star Spangled Banner in this fashion is like polishing your shoes with the American Flag”.  We had to think about that statement.  

The first thing we wondered was why one of the house girls would be using the American Flag when cleaning our boots?  They were provided ample supplies.

Secondly, we wondered if this was because the Military had refused to allow ‘Woodstock’ to be shown in our theatres.

Third, who was this Lieutenant and where did he come from?

Fourth, Why did it take them so long to recognize the song?

Finally, did this mean there would be no more free beer?

None of these questions was answered.  The show was over.  The bands were sent packing.  We were instructed to escort any guests we had signed in to the gate and sign them out.  

The final line in this play was then proclaimed “I will not allow anyone American or otherwise to dishonor my Country, my Flag, my Army and the reputation of you men by performing such an obscene song on this base.”  Never in my wildest dreams did I think I would ever hear someone call the Star Spangled Banner obscene.  But then again I am not sure he meant what he said, or said what he meant.  After all, he was a lifer trying to make some points.

“What a bummer”, it was Bo walking up behind me and my companion as I escorted her to the main gate.

“Can you believe it man.  They tell us about this being our day, have a good time and enjoy yourself.  Then they tell us we can’t listen to the music we like.”  I agreed with Bo and really with most of the other people who were there.  We did not come to hear Sinatra, Crosby and the McGuire Sisters.  We came because they told us it would be local bands playing good old ‘lock and loll’.  Anyway, it didn’t matter.  It was over.

“If you want man we can go downtown.  Some of the guys living on Soi Jintakarm are having a pig roast.  We can go there and hang out for a while”.  Bo’s planned sounded good to me.  It was either that or head for one of the clubs in Udorn.  It was still early afternoon and not much would be happening in Udorn so I thought Bo’s invitation was the best choice.

“Let’s do it”.  I took Bo up on his offer and the three of us headed for the gate.

It didn’t take long to hop on a bus and get to Udorn.  Once there we got out at the intersection of ‘Friendship Highway’ and Soi Jintakarm and started walking.  It was only a couple of blocks down the Soi till we made a left turn and entered the compound where the pig roast was in full swing.  

The compound was a cluster of 6 bungalows.  5 of the 6 were 3 bedroom bungalows with GI’s living in them.  The remaining bungalow was home to the ‘papa san’ and his family.  The bungalows were arranged in a U shape and in the middle was a little court yard with a basketball hoop.  Over the courtyard, they had stretched a canopy that was tied to the upper floor of a couple of the bungalows.  The ‘papa san’ had arranged to have a pig slaughtered and it was delivered on a spit already cooked.  The guys who lived there had bought some potatoes and made potato salad.  There was an abundance of fresh fruits.  30-gallon drums were filled with ice and liquid refreshments.  Of course, there was ‘khao pot’ and various other Thai dishes.  The place was a virtual buffet.  

Stereos had been moved outside and music was playing.  Some of the young ladies from the area had stopped by to see what was happening.  Guys from days and mids were there all dressed in the most up to date ‘going clubbing’ attire.  The place was rocking.

“Man I am glad that thing at the base ended.”  I told Bo after we had been there a few minutes.

“Dig it.  I would have probably wasted the rest of the afternoon sitting around there if it hadn’t been for those communist musicians.”  Bo laughed, shrugged and headed for the food.

That afternoon there must have been 100 or more people who passed through that compound. 

The day passed by as everyone listened to the music, sampled the food and had a few beverages.  There were no hassles, no one became belligerent, and we were just a bunch of guys having a good time.  

I am now in my 63rd year.  I have celebrated the 4th of July 62 times.  I have spent the 4th in West Virginia, Ohio, Iowa, Illinois, Michigan, North Carolina and Virginia.  I have celebrated with friends and family.  The 4th was always a special day in our family because it was also my Fathers birthday.  I remember being with Aunts, Uncles, Cousins, In-Laws, Friends and probably a few people who showed up accompanied by someone I knew.  However, that 4th of July will always be in my memory.  We celebrated.  Just a bunch of guys who were half way around the world and wanted just a day of peace and quiet with friends.  We were buddies.  One day we would all return to the ‘world’ and many of us would never see each other again.  However, while we were there, we were buddies.  

I do not remember ever telling the guys in that compound thanks.  It was not necessary.  They wanted us there because we all shared a common bond.  All of us wished we were somewhere else.  I don’t remember the names of many of the guys who lived on Soi Jintakarm.  It has been 40 years now and time someone thanked Athey, Lego, Chavez, Wayne, Grit and all the others who made that 4th of July.  

The sun had set and darkness had fallen on the compound. There were still a lot of people sitting around and having a good time.  The female companion who had accompanied me stopped and said she needed to ‘bai lao’.  I told her I would walk her out to the highway and get a ‘saam law’ to take her home. I figured I would then grab a cab and head back to Nong Soong.  

“Hey man I am going to split.”  I wanted Bo to know I was leaving.

“ I am going to take her out to the highway, get her a ride home and then grab a cab to Nong Soong.”  Bo had not indicated he was ready to leave but I wanted to tell him in case he wanted to share a ride.

“I think I will go too.  Gotta be in the box tomorrow morning and I really need to cop some z’s.”  Bo was obviously ready to leave also.  

“Let’s walk her out to the highway and grab a cab.”  I repeated my plan to Bo just to make sure he understood I was definitely not coming back to the compound.

“Dig it, man. Let’s book.”  With those words, Bo and I bid our farewells to the people still hanging out and left.

The ride back to Nong Soong was uneventful.  We paid our Baht once we arrived at the gate and began our journey back to the barracks.  I say journey because that walk from the gate to the barracks seemed like it took forever.  I cannot count the number of times I walked, usually with some other guys from the barracks to the gate or vice versa.  After you passed through the gate and started down the road, you could see the headquarters building in front of you.  That building appeared to be miles away.  When you finally reached the area in front of headquarters, you looped around to the left and walked toward the barracks area.  Again, it seemed like you would never get there.  Not only was it a long walk, it was hot, humid and usually you were either late getting back or dead tired.  Whatever excuse you wanted to use, it seemed to take forever.

“Man, I don’t know why they can’t have a little shuttle bus or something to give us a ride.”  Bo seemed to think he was important or meant something to the lifers who ran this place.  They only cared about their next ‘pro pay’ score, time in rank and duty station.  We were just there to help them get where they wanted to go.  

“I think they should have a little tram like they have at Disney World.  No reason it can’t be here all the time so poor souls like us can come and go in comfort.”  I sarcastically agreed with Bo, knowing that we were big boys and could probably make it without assistance.  

We walked on, making small talk and wishing we were on break the next day.  However, we weren’t, we had to suck it up and do our duty.  Finally, we arrived at the barracks chatted for a little while with whoever was still awake and sacked out.

 Another 4th of July was over.  The 5th would be like to 3rd.  Back in the Box, find your target and start filling in your ‘chatter log‘.  Day after day, the routine would continue until finally your day of break came around again.  FTA. 

CHAPTER :  . . . . -  (4)  Take a Taxi

“Buchanan, the CO wants to see you.  Go up to his office, now.”  From the tone of Sgt. Woods voice, I was in trouble for something but I had no idea what I had done.

I grabbed my hat and made my way to Headquarters.  When I arrived, I told the Company Clerk I was there to see the CO.

“Hang loose.”  The clerk told me as he went over and knocked on the CO’s door.

“Specialist Buchanan is here to see you sir.”  The clerk announced my arrival. 

“ Send him in.”  I heard the voice in the next room.  
He was a 2nd Lt.  Probably ROTC, maybe OCS (Officer Candidate School).   Who knew.  Who cared.  I don’t know if he was the career military type or just doing his time like the rest of us.  Whatever his status, he was the CO and really seemed to think he was important.  

“You wanted to see me, Sir?” I asked as I entered his office.

“Buchanan.  How long do you have to be in the Army before you learn to properly report to an officer.  First, you need to take off your hat.  Secondly, you need to come to attention and salute.  Then you say ‘Specialist Buchanan reporting, Sir.  Now walk out of my office and come back in again and see if you can get it right.”  The CO was really playing the role.  I don’t know if he really expected all this or was just trying to play with my mind.  Whatever his motive, I walked out, paused for a few seconds and tried it again.

“Specialist Buchanan reporting, Sir.”  I saluted him, stood at attention and tried to act like I was very sorry for my lack of military discipline.

“Have a seat.”  He told me as he shuffled some papers.

I thought about correcting him.  He had not told me to be at ease.  He had not returned my salute.  He told me to sit down.  Was that a ‘legal’ command?  Where could I find it in the Army book of rules, regulations and general BS.  It wasn’t worth the hassle.  Just tell me why I am here and let’s get this over with.

“You know Cowboy pretty well don’t you?”  The CO asked with a look of concern on his face.  

I wasn’t sure how I should respond.  Yes, I knew Cowboy, knew him very well.  However, I was not sure what Cowboy might have done.  Was this an investigation to see if I could help them ‘fry’ Cowboy?  Until I could determine his motive, I really did not want to respond to his question.  

“Yeah.  We are both O5Hs, work in the same section and live in the same area of the barracks.”  I responded with enough information to let him know we had a working relationship but not enough to let him know I hung out with Cowboy along with a lot of other guys.

“We are getting worried about him.”  The CO stared at me and really seemed to be troubled.

“It seems this morning he was found sitting by the ‘duck pond’ talking to the ducks.  He was dressed in his Class A uniform, had his low quarters on, his feet down in the water and was feeding the ducks.  Sgt. Woods heard him ask the ducks why no body seemed to like him.  I think he  may be going off the deep end.  He has been to the dispensary a number of times in the last month and the Doctor gave him some medicine for depression.  He may be reacting to the medicine.  But, he has done a lot of strange things in the last 3 or 4 months.  I am told he was being led to work one morning in a dog collar and leash.  One night he was found moving his bed, locker and footlocker out of the barracks.  He told someone he had decided to move out because it was too crowded.  Set up all his things in the grass behind the barracks and went to bed.  I am not sure when he moved back inside.”    The CO recounted these things to me and looked at me as if trying to determine if I was aware of any of this.

Fact is.  I was aware.  Everyone who knew him was aware.  He was as sane as any of us, which is not saying a lot about his mental condition.  But, he wanted out.  He wanted out and was doing everything he could think of to get out.  He did not care if it was a Section 8 or some other action, he just wanted them to let him out.

“Sir, I did hear something about him moving out of the barracks. I thought he moved into a bungalow or something.  I really didn’t pay much attention to it.”  I tried to let the CO know that I knew some things without ‘ratting out’ Cowboy.  All the time the CO was talking, I was trying to figure out what all this had to do with me.

“Well we need to get him to see a shrink.  I want you to take him to Bangkok and check him into a hospital so he can be evaluated.”  The CO came clean.  

I wondered why I had been chosen for such an assignment.  I wondered how they expected me to pull this off.  I wondered if there was some reward for doing all this.

“Our plan is this.  You tell Cowboy that the two of you have been given a 3-day pass.  Ask him if he wants to go to Bangkok with you.  We will buy you a couple of train tickets.  You can ride the train to Bangkok then catch a cab to a military hospital.  Once there you can check him in, go to the Don Muang (airport in Bangkok used by the military) and fly back to Udorn.”  The CO had a plan.  A typical Army plan.  Full of holes and potential problems.

“First of all, Sir.  Cowboy knows that no one here gets a 3-day pass.  Second, when we pull up in front of that hospital he is going to split.  Finally, I don’t want Cowboy to think I ratted him out.”

“Ok, then.  You tell me how we get him to Bangkok.”  The CO looked at me and waited for my plan.

“Why don’t I just tell him what we are doing.”  I asked what I felt to be a legitimate question.

“No way, he will buck us and refuse to go.  I do not want to have him escorted there under arrest.  I think it may make his condition worse.”  The CO seemed to be convinced that Cowboy was losing it.

“ Listen, Sir.  Cowboy is as sane as anyone else in the place.  He wants out of the Army.  You know it, I know it, everyone knows it.  He has done everything imaginable to get you to kick him out of your Army.  If you call him in here right now, tell him you are sending him home and he will be discharged,  he will pack his bags and be ready to leave.”  I tried in vain to convince the CO that all he needed to do was arrange for his discharge.

“I cannot do that.  He must be evaluated and I have been told the best place for this to be done is a hospital in Bangkok.”  The CO was adamant.  It was his plan or no plan.

“Ok, I will get him there.”  I realized the CO was not going to change his mind.  He had probably attended a 3-hour training program on dealing with soldiers who were having problems with depression or mental issues.  It apparently did not cover those who just wanted to leave and were willing to give you a reason to let them go.

“We will make the arrangements and I will let you know when everything is in place.”  This statement by the CO gave me some comfort.  It would take some time for this plan to be readied.  No plan in the military could be put together and implemented quickly.  Who knows how many levels of NCOs and Officers this had to pass through before it could be carried out.  In addition,  they had to buy train tickets, get me permission to fly back, make an appointment with a shrink and who knows what else.  This gave me time to figure out how I could get Cowboy on the train.  If I came right out and told him, he may think I was involved in planning the whole thing.  If I tried to lie to him, he would not trust me.  I had to figure it out, but I had time.

Two day later I was called to the COs office again.  As I walked to Headquarters, I tried to imagine what he wanted.  I never dreamed the plan was in place and I would be on a train headed to Bangkok that day.  I walked in his office, removed my hat this time and reported to him in my best Military demeanor.

“Here are your train tickets, some money for cab fare to the hospital.  This paper has the name of the hospital and the name of the Doctor who will evaluate him.  The train leaves from Udorn about 1830.  You can leave Ops at 1500.  That gives you plenty of time to get Cowboy, get to Udorn and catch the train. Any questions.”  The CO did not waste any time.  He seemed anxious to put this matter behind him.

“No, Sir.  I understand.”  I replied to his inquiry but in my mind, I wondered how in the world I would pull this off.

“Have you talked to Cowboy about this at all?  We don’t want to have any problems with him.”  The CO asked me and told me that he was my problem now.

“No, I haven’t said anything to Cowboy.  I will find him and talk him into getting on the train.”  I really had not talked to Cowboy about it but also had no idea how to approach him.  I was willing to help him get out but I also did not want him to think I had turned into a ‘puke’.

I gathered up the tickets, directions and cash and headed back to Ops.  On the way back to Ops, I tried to figure out the best way to approach Cowboy.

“Hey Cowboy, got a minute.”  I cornered Cowboy in Ops still having no idea what I was going to say.

“Sure man.  What’s happening.”  Cowboy was always available to chat.  He was ‘house mouse’ again and had plenty of time.

“How would you like to go to Bangkok?”  I blurted out the question with no idea how I would respond to any questions he had.

“Sure.  When do you want to go?”   Cowboy did not hesitate.  He did not care if we needed permission.  He did not care how long we would be gone.  He did not care why I asked him.  All he knew was someone was asking him to do something that was out of the ordinary.

“We can leave tonight.”  I offered no explanation and gave no details.  Cowboy didn’t ask for any because he really did not care.  If we left without permission, it would be one more reason for them to kick him out of their Army.  I am sure that is all he thought.

“Dig it, man.  Do you want to leave now?”  Cowboy was ready to go.

“Not yet man.  Let’s skip out about three o’clock.”  I set the time and Cowboy agreed.

Three o’clock rolled around and it was time to find Cowboy and head for the train station.  I told Sgt. Woods I was leaving, rounded up Cowboy and left.  We walked back to the barracks together, put on some civvies and headed for Udorn.  On the way, we stopped and ate.  We arrived at the train station about 5 minutes before the train pulled in from Nong Khai.  We boarded the train and were on our way about 20 minutes later.  As the train rolled along toward Bangkok, we talked about all the goings on at the 7th, talked about home and just generally wasted time.  We had been on the train for a while when it started slowing down for another stop.  

“Do you want to get off here?” Cowboy asked me for no apparent reason.

“No man, we are going to Bangkok.”  I tried to avoid any conversation that would end with Cowboy insisting we get off the train.

Time passed and soon it was dark.  The train rolled on, we chatted, napped and waited.  It seemed like that train stopped a thousand times along the way and each time Cowboy asked me if I wanted to get off.  It must have been 2 or 3 in the morning when Cowboy looked at me and I knew the plan was about to unravel.

“Ok Man, where are we going?  I know we are not skipping out and going to Bangkok just to prove to the Army that we can do it. Tell me what’s going on.”  Cowboy knew all along that I was not going to do something like this on a whim.  He knew I wanted out as bad as he did but I was willing to do my time and then leave.  Sure, I wanted to get out of the Army,  sure I was willing to buck the system.  However, he knew and I knew that going AWOL was not something I would do.

“Here is the story man.  Someone is convinced that you are going off the deep end.  They asked me to get you to Bangkok so you can visit with a shrink.  I could have told you all this but, I knew you would get on the train with me and head out.  To you leaving was just another way to prove to them that you did not want to be in their Army.  You want out and they are giving you a chance.  All you have to do is go to the hospital and convince some Doctor that you should be sent home.”  I came clean with Cowboy and waited to see his reaction.

“This is great man.  You could have told me.  I know you had nothing to do with planning this whole thing.  How long are they letting you stay in Bangkok?”  Cowboy was pleased.  He was getting a chance to get out and figured I would get a couple days in Bangkok as a reward for getting him there.

“I have to go to the air base and catch a flight back once you are checked into the hospital.”  I let Cowboy know there was nothing in this for me. 

“If I were you I would spend a couple days in Bangkok.  Tell them there were no flights available so you had to stay. What are they going to do?”  As usual, Cowboy was thinking of a way to buck the system.

“No man, I don’t have enough money to stay.  They gave me cab fare to the hospital and that’s it.”  I let him know that my time in Bangkok would be short.

“Well man I guarantee you I will convince whoever they send me to that I am not fit to be in their Army.”  You could see the wheels spinning in his head as Cowboy assured me he would not be back at the 7th.

The rest of the train ride was pretty quiet.  As I watched Cowboy, I could see he was deep in thought.  I am sure there were dozens of scenarios floating around in that brain of his.  He was convinced he could prove that his mental state required his immediate discharge.  Occasionally he would make small talk.  At times, he would remind me of one of his escapades.  After going through the episode in detail, he would snicker and tell me about the punishment dealt to him.  

“I will never forget the time they told me I was restricted to base for 90 days.  The 1st Sgt. did not know what to say when I told him I would leave whenever I felt like leaving.  I told him there were plenty of holes in that fence big enough for me to get through.  After all, I was the one sent to fix the holes as punishment for other things I did.  The First Shirt just sat there and stared.”  Cowboy laughed and said he left on the first night of his restriction.  Instead of coming back in through one of the holes, he entered through the main gate.  The MP on duty looked at the picture of Cowboy hanging at the gate, looked at Cowboy and immediately called the 1st. Sgt..  

Finally, Cowboy laid his head back and fell off to sleep.  I am sure he dreamed about going home.

“Hey man.  We are almost to the train station you need to wake up.”  Cowboy was sleeping like a baby and I hated to wake him.  

“Ok man.  I am awake.  Did you tell me we need to catch a Cab to the Hospital?”  Cowboy seemingly wanted to make sure he knew what we were doing.  This was possibly the most important appointment of his life.  I am sure he did not want to miss it because I screwed up.

“Yeah.  We need to grab a cab.  I have the name of the Hospital and address on these papers they gave.”  I reassured Cowboy as best I could.

Soon we were off the train and outside the train station.  As always, there were a lot of cabs sitting around just waiting for a fare.  

“Taxi, taxi.”  They all seemed to be desperate for a fare.  There they stood smiling and hoping they could make a deal with you to take you wherever you needed to go.  I picked out one who appeared to have a decent cab and gave him the name of the Hospital.

“Do you know?”  I asked the Driver, hoping he knew enough English to understand.  

“Chai, krap.  Me know.  Take you there lao, lao.  No far.  Go there now??  The driver could speak enough to let me know he could get us there.  Go there now?, really was a question not a statement.  In his broken English, he was asking me if I wanted to go now.

“Chai, krap.”  I accepted his offer to drive us to the hospital and Cowboy and I got into the cab.  

I had not asked the driver how much because I really didn’t care.  Once we got there, I would negotiate with him.  If I felt, he was charging too much I would let the hospital work it out with him.  I was willing to give him all the money they gave me for the fare.  Anything more than that was going to be an issue for someone else.

The driver took off through the Bangkok traffic and sure enough took us to the correct hospital.  It was a short ride, only 15 or 20 minutes.  Cowboy sat in the backseat with me and never said a word during the trip.

“Ok GI.  You here now.”  The driver pulled up in front of the hospital and let us out.

“How much?” I asked the drive to give me a price for the ride.

“Hok sip (60) baht.”  The driver smiled and made me an offer.  The Army had given me 200 baht so I gladly paid the fare and pocketed the rest.

Cowboy walked into the Hospital and found our way to admissions.  Cowboy introduced himself and told them he had an appointment.  The nurse on duty checked the files, found his name and gave him some forms to fill out.

“And why are you here?”  The nurse asked me.

“I am just here to make sure he gets checked into the hospital.  Once he is checked in I will return to my duty station.”  I gave her the information she needed and waited to see if there was anything else they wanted from me.

“Are you an MP?”   She asked probably wondering why this guy needed an escort.

“No.”  My experience to me to answer but don’t go into detail.

Cowboy completed the required forms and we took a seat while the nurse checked over the information.

“If you don’t have anymore business here you can leave.”  The nurse obviously felt I did not need to be there.

“I was told by my CO to make sure he is admitted before I leave.”  I was no stickler for details but I did want to make sure I wasn’t called on the carpet for leaving without knowing.

“Someone will be here in a minute to take him upstairs and get him into a room.  You can wait and go up with him if you want.”  She seemed a little irritated that I was not satisfied that he was now in the hands of a US Military hospital.

“Ok, I’ll wait.”  My answer seemed to irritate her even more.

As we sat and waited, Cowboy told me the name of his hometown in Texas and said he would write to someone when he got home and let them know how things were going.  I told him we would be interested in hearing about his meeting with the shrink and asked if he wanted me to relay any messages when I got back to the 7th.

“No man, just let them know I will miss them and will keep in touch.”  Cowboy almost seemed to regret his leaving.  

“Come with me.”  The orderly looked at Cowboy and me and we obediently got up from our seats and followed him.

We went up to the 3rd floor of the hospital where they gave Cowboy a pair of hospital pajamas.  We then followed them into a room where Cowboy was told to take off his civilian clothes, put all his personal items in a plastic bag they provided and put on his pajamas.  Cowboy followed the instructions and then signed a form that listed all the personal items he had.  

At this point, I was beginning to wonder.  Why did they have him put on pajamas and why did they take all his personal items?  I could not understand the need for all this when his appointment was with a shrink.  Maybe someone had screwed up.  Maybe they thought he had some weird disease or was there to have his appendix removed.  The whole scene made no sense to me but it was the Army.

“Are you sure all your personal items are listed?  If so, sign this form.”  The orderly took the plastic bag sealed it with the form inside and put Cowboys Name, Rank and RA number on the outside of the envelope.

“Are you going to wait here until he sees the Doctor?”  The orderly asked me.

“No, if you are through checking him in, I am leaving.”  My job was done and now that Cowboy was officially in the hands of the Hospital I saw no reason to hand around.

“Good luck, Cowboy.  Keep in touch.”  I set off for my return and shook Cowboys hand for the last time.

I went back to the admissions area and asked if there was any way, I could be transported to Don Muang to catch my flight back to Udorn.  The same nurse I had met earlier told me there would be a Van going that way in about 20 minutes.  She took my name, I showed her my authorization for the flight, and she told me to have a seat and wait.  As I sat waiting for my ride, I wondered what was going on with Cowboy upstairs.  I pictured  him hanging upside down on the end of the exam room table or running naked through the hallways, anything to prove his point.

Finally, the Van came and I made the trip to Don Muang for my flight.

“I got some good news and some bad news for you.”  The person I reported to at Don Muang seemed like a nice enough guy but I felt he was about to ruin my day.  This whole thing had been too easy.  Arrive in Bangkok by train about 0615.  Go to the hospital, check in Cowboy and leave at 0820.  Arrive at Don Muang at 0930 for my flight, which was leaving at 1300.  Now some zoomie was about to ruin the whole plan.

“The good news, you will be back at Udorn AFB today.  The bad news.  The flight they put you on is not going to Udorn it is going to Korat.  However, there is a flight I can get you on to Udorn later today.  You will be back in Udorn about 2030.”

Maybe I should spend a night in Bangkok I thought to myself.  It was not my fault they had screwed up the flight details.  Now I had to wait almost 10 hours for a flight.

“Man I knew the Army would screw this up. Is there anyplace I can at least get something to eat while I am waiting.”  I expressed my feelings about waiting to the zoomie and then roamed around Don Muang until time to leave that evening.

I finally made it back to Udorn AFB, walked to the gate and caught a cab back to the 7th.  I walked toward the barracks and decided I should let the 1st Shirt know I made it back.  I knocked on his door and waited for him to respond.  The door opened about 6 inches and the 1st shirt peaked out.  

“I just thought I should let someone know I made it back.  Cowboy was sitting in the exam room in his pajamas waiting for the Doctor when I left him.”  I didn’t say anything about the flight screw up, just gave him the only explanation I felt he wanted to hear.

“Is that right?”  The 1st shirt responded to me like I had just told him the sky was purple.

“Well how in the name of the Holy Mother do you explain this.”  The door swung open and I could see someone sitting on the end of the bunk.  Cowboy was back.

“What is going on man?”  I directed my question at Cowboy because the 1st Shirt was probably going to ask me the same thing.

“He walked out of the hospital, got in a cab and had them bring him back.  Pulled up to the gate and of course he had no money.  We had to gather up the money to pay the cabbie not only for bringing him here but also for the cabbie to drive back to Bangkok.  The SOB is nuts.”  The 1st Shirt was obviously irritated.  Not only was Cowboy back but the CO told the 1st Shirt to keep him in his room for the night until they could get him back to Bangkok.  

Cowboy sat on the bunk looking lost a little lost kitten.  Then he broke into a grin as big as the state of Texas.  You could see by his expression that he thought he had won.  If this didn’t prove to them that he was a disgrace to his unit, the Army, the Country, his parents, his girlfriend and God himself, nothing would.

I never found out for sure how they got Cowboy from the 7th to Texas.  Rumor has it they strapped him to a gurney, put him in a chopper, took him to the Udorn AFB, flew him to Bangkok and flew him to a base in Texas.  All I know is a letter circulated around the 7th a few weeks later.  Cowboy had written to give us an update.

“I told you they didn’t want me in their Army.  I am out.  Back home.  Medical discharge.  No Section 8.  I tell everyone I was on a top-secret mission that I finished and they let me out so I could not be discovered.  FTA!!!!  Cowboy”

No one ever heard from him again as far as I know.  FTA

CHAPTER :  . . . . . (5)  Rughead

Serving in the military during the Viet Nam war was not considered an honorable thing by many people.  Back in the States, the war had grown old.  People were in the streets demanding the return of all troops.  The DNC convention in 1968 had exploded in anger.  Many in the Military had decided that their mission was to get to ETS with as little effort as possible.  Some had even decided that they could no longer fulfill their duties as a soldier, sailor, airman or marine. However, some were to the point they just could not deal with it anymore.

I first met Rughead in Panama.  If you were there, you know him by his given name Jerry Notney.  He worked in the mailroom there and I knew him casually.  I don’t remember anyone being close friends with him.  We went to Ops for our tricks and he went to the mailroom  The ASA unit in Panama was small.  I never figured out what he did except sort the mail and put it in our boxes.  Maybe he fulfilled other roles, I really don’t know.  The one thing everyone knew however was that, he had applied for CO (Conscientious Objector) status.  He had come to the point where he could not support the war or anything to do with the war.  His access to Ops was pulled and they put him in the mailroom until a final decision was made.  At some point, he received orders for transfer to the 7th.  He arrived there before I did and I am not sure what he was doing.   Finally, a decision came down regarding his CO status.  It was denied.

Rughead was ordered to report to Ops on the midnight shift.  He had been trained as an O5H and was told to report and set a position like everyone else.  

“Hey man.”  I spoke to Rughead as Coach, Stutz, Reeves and I walked to Ops.  Coach, Stutz and Reeves spoke to him also.

“Hey guys” was his only reply.

“Did you see how down he was.”  John was the first one to mention the look on his face.  We all agreed that he looked really depressed.

Rughead went on sick call that morning and supposedly told the Doctor he could not do what the Army was requiring.  The Doctor admitted him to the dispensary on base.  We did not have a hospital but there were a couple of rooms they used to keep guys until they could be taken to the Air Base hospital in Udorn.

That night Rughead hung himself.  He could not live with himself.

I will not go into detail about all that happened after the word got out about his death.  Let it be said there was discontent among the troops.  The uprising that followed the news of his death was unbelievable.  Guys who knew him well refused to work, midnight shift was in total turmoil.  This was not someone who decided on a whim that he was against the war.  This was a young man with deep convictions.  A young man who said he would serve and did serve.  If you were there, you may have attended the ‘memorial service’.  You may recall the Chaplain reading his prepared notes.  You definitely remember the goings on after his death and the seemingly nonchalant attitude by the army toward his passing.  

This is the shortest Chapter I am writing.  Not because the death of this young man was not significant.  It is short because I do not want to write anything that could dishonor his memory.  

Rughead ended his short life for a cause he believed in.  Some would call it cowardice, others would call it escapism and still more would call it a tragedy.  The Army called him a casualty.

I don’t know where he lived in the world.  I don’t know how he ended up in the ASA.  I don’t know when his deep conviction about the war developed.  I don’t know how his parents reacted at the news of his death.

I  know he left this world too soon.  I know there were people who loved him.  I know he acted in desperation.  I know I regret not knowing more about him.  I know I regret not spending more time with him and letting him share his deepest thoughts with me.  I know I would be negligent if in telling my story about the 7th,  I did not report the day Rughead died.  

CHAPTER  :  - . . . .   (6)  The Expert Marksmen

“Buck, come with me.”  Sergeant Woods came into the room and seemed to be on a mission.  

I followed him out of our section and down the hallway where three or four other guys were standing around.  

“What’s up?” One of the men standing there asked the question to no one in particular.

“Who knows man; they never tell you anything until it is too late.”

After a few minutes there were, 8 or 10 of us gathered in the hallway waiting for someone to tell us what we had done wrong, why we were needed or give us some idea what was going on. 

Finally, some NCO that I did not recognize walked up to us and told us to follow him.  Of course being the obedient soldiers we were, we followed along without asking any questions.

“Hey Sarge, can someone clue us in about what is going on?”  Someone asked what seemed to be a fair question.

“Just follow me and you will be given instructions at the appropriate time.”  This Sergeant was not only not going to tell us, he really believed we would just shut up and walk along behind him.

“Hey Sarge, I wonder what you will do when we turn around and walk back into ops and back to our positions.”  One of the guys decided to push the issue and let the Sergeant know we would not follow along like ducks to the pond.

“I will tell you what; the Army gets more screwed up every day.  I don’t need to walk along behind some idiot just because he told me I needed to follow him.”  Another guy chimed in with his thoughts about the matter as we exited the ops building and began walking in the general direction of the barracks.

“Well I will tell you one thing, this better be important.  If this is just some lifer’s way of harassing us, someone is going to hear about it.  I will be in the MARS station tonight placing a call home and I will let my Dad handle this matter.  He and the Congressman from our district are good friends.  I am sure the Congressman would like to know they pulled us off the mission for no good reason.”  Someone else decided to make the issue a little more urgent.

“Ok guys here is what you want to know.  We are going up to headquarters so you can all go out and re-qualify with your weapons.”  The Sergeant finally decided to clue us in on the matter at hand.

“Qualify with a weapon, man you are joking.  I haven’t even seen a weapon since I got out of basic training.  You guys expecting an attack or something.  Cause if you are I got news for you.  By the time we all run across the ball fields to the warehouse to draw weapons they will kill us all.”  A comment about the stupidity of all this seemed to be in order.

“Lifers are so smart.  They put the weapons room on the other side of the base across a big open field.  When we run across that field look out.  Of course, they will have a hard time entering the base.  The one MP and two Thai guards at the gate will never allow us to be overrun.  Besides if the shooting starts they might wake up the Thai guards who are sleeping up in the guard towers.”  The decision to pull us out of ops for this was not sitting well with the troops.

“Look you guys, I just follow orders.  The Post Commander instructed me to gather you men up and take you out to re-qualify with weapons.  The weapons and ammunition are already at the firing range.  You just need to go there, do what you have to do and get it over with.  I can’t believe you are all complaining about this.  It is not hard.”  Finally, Sarge was beginning to crack.  He did not work in the ‘Box’; he was obviously not used to the idea of guys questioning what he told them.  He had to know that guys who worked in the ‘Box’ everyday were not going to follow along without knowing something about what they were doing.

“Look Sarge, it is not just you that we don’t like.  It is this whole Army of yours.”  A snicker and a comment that pretty much ended the discussion with Sarge.

We arrived at Headquarters and there was a ‘deuce and a half’ (big truck for you civilians) waiting for us.  We climbed into the back and began our journey.  We headed South on Friendship Highway and after a short time arrived at a Thai Army base that had a firing range.

Firing Range?  This was not like the firing range we had seen during Basic Training.  No pop up targets, no foxholes, no markers with butt cans for the spent rounds and no tower so someone could keep an eye on the proceedings.  Just a bunch of logs stuck in the ground about 75 yards from some benches.  Logs with paper targets nailed to them and a big mound of dirt behind them.  

“What is this?”  Someone had to begin mouthing off as soon as we got out of the truck we were in.

“Is this actually a firing range?  Who is going to walk down there and check those targets after we hit them?  Who is going to walk down there and change the targets?  You really don’t think I am going to walk down there and do it myself do you?”  The chatter went on, as everyone got in their comments loud enough for the Sergeant to know we did not approve of the facilities.

“Ok, listen up.  We are going to fire up enough ammunition today to qualify everyone on the base who needs re-qualified with a weapon.  I know how many clips of ammunition we need to fire and I will issue each of you an equal number of clips.  All you have to do is fire the weapons at those targets.  However, for safety we will only load one cartridge at a time.  You can fire it and re load until you have fired up all your clips.  Any questions?”  The Sarge had not instructed us on what was obviously some lifer’s way of meeting some deadline without actually doing anything.

“So you are telling me, it does not matter if we hit anything.  We just need to fire up all the ammunition so someone can report that everyone on the base is now qualified with a weapon.”  Follow up statements seemed appropriate at this time.

“That is the idea.”  The Sergeant really did not seem interested in discussing the matter any further.

“How will we know if we are qualified as Marksmen or Experts if we don’t actually shoot at anything?  I qualified as an Expert in basic and I do not want to lose my Expert badge because some clerk decides to make me a Marksman this time.”  The sarcasm was really getting thick, as guys mumbled and made it well know that this was a pretty dumb thing to be doing.

“I hope we don’t shoot up all the ammunition on the base.  I would hate for the commies to find out we shot up all our ammo and decide tonight would be a good time to attack.”  The comments just kept on coming from one guy after another.

“They ain’t going to attack us.  We got teletype.  We will send a message to Bangkok. They will send it back to insure it is correct.  We will confirm the message.  Bangkok will then send it Saigon.  Saigon will send it back for confirmation.  Bangkok will confirm.  Saigon will send it to DC.  DC will call the President to see if he thinks it is really true.  He will call the Joint Chiefs.  The Joint Chiefs will call up a Division of Marines.  The Marines will deploy in 3 or 4 weeks and get here just in time to bury all the corpses.”

Sarcasm, wise cracks and general discontent seemed to reign supreme.

“Looks guys, they will not put us back in that truck until we fulfill their stupid assignment.  Let’s load up and get this over with.”  Finally, someone reminded everyone that we are stuck here until all this ammo is spent.

We all picked up one of the M-16s that had been delivered by someone, got our fair share of the ammo and began firing the weapons.  At first most of the guys actually aimed at and tried to hit the targets.  After a short time, it became obvious this would take a lot of time.  The routine changed.  Load up and shoot.  If you hit a target, more power to you.  If you hit the mound of dirt behind the target, you had done your duty.  This went on for a period of time when someone decided we should take a break.  All weapons checked to make sure no one left a live round in a chamber and we sat down for a break. 

“This is the most ridiculous thing I have ever witnessed.  Here we are a non combat unit, sitting at a Thai Army base, shooting up all this ammunition while the chances of us ever firing a weapon in combat and about a zillion to one.”  The comments about the matter continued as we sat under the trees not because we needed a rest but because we wanted to sit under the trees.

“Look at those guys.  They think we are a bunch of idiots.  It is no wonder the Thai people think we are stupid.”  Someone commented about the thoughts of the Thai soldiers who had gathered nearby to watch us.  They pointed, laughed and chattered away about the American GI’s.  All the time they were probably thinking about how much the Thai soldiers serving in Viet Nam could use all that ammo.

“Hey man, look.”  Someone stopped the conversation about what we were doing as they pointed toward the mound of dirt behind the targets.

A mangy looking old dog wandered out of the jungles and was slowly making its way up one side of that dirt pile.  The animal was barely moving as we all watched.

“Everyone throw two dollars in a pool.  If you hit the dog you get a dollar, if you kill it you get the whole pot.  Only one person can fire at a time so we have no doubt who fired the winning shot.”  Some cruel, animal hating dirt bag decided we should use the dog for target practice.  

“Look guys that dog is sick.  It is probably suffering terribly and we would be doing it a favor.  Besides it could bite some poor little kid and cause all kinds of problems.”  The persuasion was really not necessary.  Everyone was in a hurry to get their weapon, get loaded and have their chance to win the sweepstakes.

“Ok guys, watch this and someone get ready to hand me some money.”  The first guy ready to fire took aim and slowly pulled off the round that would end the pain and suffering of this poor animal.

“Did you see the dirt fly?  Man, you missed that dog by 10 feet.”  The first shot had sent some dust flying in the air.  It appeared the bullet had hit the mound several feet below where the dog was walking.

“Let me show you how it’s done.  If I were Viet Namese I would be lighting a fire now so I could cook this mutt while it is still fresh.”  Another all-American boy making rash comments about our allies while planning to kill this poor dog.

“Well man you got closer.  The dog even looked to see what kicked up the dirt in front of him.”  A second shot that was closer than the first but not on target.  The second shot did get the dogs attention.  The poor animal started moving a little faster.  He was now going about the speed of turtle with two broken legs.  But, he was making progress.

The firing continued.  As each shot rang out the dog moved a little faster than he had before.  Up one side, across the top of the mound and down the other side.  

Everyone had their turn and the dog was still moving toward his goal of getting across that mound of dirt.  Maybe he could not run because he never did.  No one got close enough to scare that poor animal into running away.  As each round was squeezed off, flew toward the animal and missed the mark the Thai soldiers would howl with laughter. 

“What are you guys trying to prove?”  Sarge was back from wherever he had gone and now realized we had been doing something inappropriate.

“That dog came running across the firing range at us.  He was barking and growling, had slobbers dripping down his cheeks and we thought he might be rabid.  So, we fired some warning shots at him and he ran over to the jungles beside that pile of dirt.  I think he will run off but you better keep an eye out for him Sarge.”  The answer to Sarge’s question was not just an attempt to keep us out of hot water.  Sarge had to know what we were doing.  A response like that was more a comment on what we perceived as being his level of intelligence.  He could not do anything about what we had just attempted to accomplish.  There was no Army regulation against killing a stray dog.  The most they could charge us with was ‘Action Unbecoming a Soldier’.  Our real punishment for that little episode was humiliating ourselves in front of those Thai Soldiers.

Finally, everyone had fired up all their ammo and our mission was accomplished.  As we rode back to the 7th we laughed about the fact, none of us could hit that dog.  No one tried to defend our incompetence by saying the weapons had not be ‘zeroed in’. Every one had some reason why they missed the dog.  With each excuse came ridicule.

“Man I am a lover not a killer.”

“I hope your girlfriend feels the same way.”

“I want to join the Animal Society when I get home.”

“You need to join the NRA.  Maybe someone could teach you how to fire a weapon and actually hit something.”

“My mother would kill me if she found out I killed some poor innocent animal.”

“If someone breaks into her house she better have her rolling pin handy because she sure can’t count on you shooting them.”

On and on it went until we accepted the fact that we had not been called to be the ‘first line of defense’.  We realized fully why we had all enlisted in the ASA. We were called by God to be ‘non combatants’. FTA

CHAPTER :  - - . . .   (7)   The Coup

Working in the Box exposed you to information that was not always shared immediately with the public.  I recall the time we found out about ‘The Coup’.

“Hey guys, I don’t know if you heard or not  there has been a Coup.  Seems Kittacachorn came on TV and announced he would run the country.”

Kittacachorn was the military leader in Thailand at the time and unofficially was the person who held most of the power.  He had the military on his side and pretty much did as he pleased.  He was very pro American and knew the US forces in Thailand added both military security and contributed vast sums to the economy.

“Yeah man, I don’t why it took an appearance on TV for everyone to know what the reality is already.”  Comments similar to this were heard as the word spread.

“Man I am sure glad this day is over.  One more step toward ETS.  I don’t know why but it really got on my nerves today.  Maybe it was because I had a lot of problems hearing my target.”  One of the guys expressed the same sentiment everyone felt at the end of each shift.  Thank goodness, this one is over.  One more down.  I am now shorter than I was when I got here this morning.

“You going to the mess hall?”  Coach asked me as we walked down the hallway toward the door.

“Yeah man.  I am going to eat, take a shower and go down town for a little while.  You want to go along?”  Coach went to town occasionally.

“I think I will.  I haven’t been off this base in over a week.  I might go down there and eat instead of the mess hall.”  Coach seemed interested in eating off base and I was inclined to agree with him.

“Good idea man.  You want to go to ‘Jimmy’s’ and get a steak?”  I asked Coach because I knew he liked steaks and ‘Jimmy’s’ was a good place to eat. 

“I think Billy Jack has a birthday this week.  Maybe we can get together with him and some other guys and treat him to a steak dinner for his birthday.”  Coach always seemed to know when someone had a birthday coming up.  

“Good idea man. Maybe we can catch some of the guys outside as they leave the box and see who wants to go.  Better than waiting until after they have mystery meat at the mess hall.”  I added my idea for pulling this off and waited outside the box as guys left.

“Hey, Billy Jack.  Buck and I thought we would get some of the guys and go to Jimmy’s.  We will buy you a steak dinner for your birthday if you want to go.”  Coach stopped Billy and filled him in on the plan.

“Sure man.  I will always take a free steak dinner.  I am sure it won’t be as good as the slop in the mess hall but, I will suffer through it since you guys are my buddies.”  Sarcasm seemed to be a part of many of the conversations you listened to and participated in at the 7th.  

“Ok, let’s see who we can gather up.”  Coach was willing to be the ringleader in this little adventure and began asking some of the guys that Billy hung out with to go along.  Five or ten minutes after leaving the box Coach had ten or twelve guys who said they would go.

“I told everyone to meet down by my bunk about 7:00.”  Coach had made the contacts, set the time and now all we had to do was clean up and go.

“Did anyone see Sam?”  Coach asked the guys milling around if anyone knew the whereabouts of one of those who said he was going.  Sam was not his real name.  His last name was Morse.  He was hung with Sam because Samuel FB Morse created Morse Code.  

“Let me check man.  I saw him take a shower and he laid down.  Maybe he fell asleep.”  Someone volunteered to search out Sam.

“How hard is this?  We only been out of the box for an hour.  I can’t believe a guy can’t stay awake for an hour.  He knew we would be leaving.”  Coach put on his coaches face and let everyone know he was unhappy with Mr. Sam being tardy.

“We are going to start calling you Sergeant Coach.  You sound like a lifer griping because someone walked into the box five minutes late.  This is the Army man nothing, including Billy Jack’s birthday dinner is going to happen on time.”  Coach got the attention of one of the attendees who really did not think it was any big deal.  But this was Coach.  He always tried to steer us in the right direction.

“You guys waiting on someone?”  Sam smiled knowing that Coach probably had something he wanted to say.

“Sam, you would screw up a one car funeral.  Let’s go.”  Coach let Sam know that tardiness was not next to Godliness and led us out into the setting sun.

We walked toward the main gate and made small talk.  Three or four conversations were in progress with different guys joining in with whatever topic they found the most interesting.  We finally made our way to within sight of the gate and someone noticed something a little strange.

“Hey man they have a couple of extra guards over there tonight.”  One of the gang made the comment as the rest of us looked to confirm his observation.  

“Yeah, looks like it.”  No other confirmation was heard or expected.

Soon we were at the gate and the MP on duty approached us.  

“Hey guys, no one is allowed to leave the base.”  The MP informed us that the Base Commander had ordered a lockdown.  No one, including those participating in Billy Jack’s birthday party dinner was allowed to leave. 

“Man, you got to be kidding me.  Why can’t anyone leave?”  Coach was now determined to take over this situation.  No MP in his right mind would mess with the Coach.

“You guys probably haven’t heard but there was a coup in Bangkok.  The Base Commander has decided it best if everyone stays on the base in case there is any trouble.”  A couple of months prior to this the Base Commander, a Colonel, took command of the 7th.  In the short time he had been there, he had pretty much upset everyone on the base.  He came with the idea discipline was a major problem.  He had implemented a bunch of rules and regulations that did not set well.  However, the MP seemed to accept the Base Commander’s concern about our well-being.  He did not realize that we knew about the events in Bangkok.  We knew that nothing that happened was going to create any danger.  

“Is the Air Base on lock down?”  Coach was about to work over the MP.

“I don’t have any information on that.”  The MP answered coach by admitting that he did not know if the Air Base on the edge of Udorn was under the same restrictions.  Coach and the rest of us knew that the Air Base was not on restriction.  

“Well don’t you think there is more of a chance of violence in Udorn that in a little village like Non Soong?  Don’t you think they would lock down the Air Base if they thought things were going to get out of hand?”  Coach was making the MP think about the situation and ponder the decision of the Base Commander.

“Man, I don’t know.  All I know is the Base Commander told us to close the base down.  Don’t let anyone except the Thais working here leave and don’t let anyone on the base who is not supposed to be here.”  The MP was now beginning to get irritated and really did not want us questioning his orders.

“Well why don’t you pick up the phone, call the Colonel and ask him some questions?”  Coach was cranking up the pressure on this poor MP.

“No, I will not do that.  I have my orders and until they are changed, no one leaves.”   MPs can get testy when you question them.  Here he was, probably 19 or 20 years old.  Probably wanted to be Sheriff some day.  Someone gave him a gun and told him to watch the bad guys. His training did not include responding to questions from a bunch of guys who knew more about the situation than he did.

“Ok.  I understand.  You don’t want to get into trouble because you questioned the decision of a Base Commander.  So here is what we can do.  Hand me your phone and I will call him.  I know him personally.  I am sure he will listen to reason.”  Coach turned from the Authoritarian to the Negotiator.

“No.  If you want to talk to him.  You know where his quarters are.”  The MP was not going to co-operate.

“Actually, I don’t know.  They keep that a big secret from us.  I think they are afraid we might visit him in the middle of the night.”  This poor MP was not responding to Coach‘s sarcasm.

“Well, if you want to talk to him I will tell you where his quarters are located.”  The MP probably wondered why we would want to visit the Base Commander in the middle of the night. 

“Look man, there are only a few of us.  If we leave, no one is going to miss us.  Just look around.  There is no one here but you, us, and some Thai guards.  They have no reason to tell anyone.”  Coach now began to plead.

“You guys need to go back to your barracks and forget about leaving.  Surely there is nothing so important that it can’t wait until later.”   The MP was now being our big brother.  Trying to convince us that nothing, even Billy Jacks birthday dinner was so important that we just had to leave.

“Hey Coach, let me reason with this man.”  Bo spoke up and stepped between Coach and the MP.

“What would you do if we walked over there and left?”  Bo was trying a new approach.  What would the consequences be if we just left?  Walked out the gate, got in a cab and went on to Udorn.  The MP now had to think about how he would respond to this situation.  

In his mind, he had to be thinking about all his training.  What Training Manual covered guys who did not listen and just walked off the base while under restriction?  What instructions had they received regarding those who ignored their authority?  Was this a situation that allowed him to use any means available to enforce the Orders he had been given?  Would it be appropriate for him to call for back up?  What would the Thai guards think if he allowed us to leave?  How many years would he get in the penitentiary if we left?  All this and much more must have been going through his mind.

“Look guys.  You can’t leave.”  He seemed to have found the Manual, page, paragraph and line that gave him clear instructions.  It was simple; he told us we could not leave.  Surely. That was sufficient to end this episode. 

“That is not the right answer.  I am not asking you if we can leave.  I am asking you what you would do if we left”.  Bo brought him back to the original question.

The MP was now getting very nervous about the whole situation.  Here he was facing a group of guys who seemed determined to have dinner at Jimmy’s to celebrate Billy Jack’s birthday.  We had been there for several minutes now and the situation was not getting any better.  We did not turn around and go to the barracks, we asked to talk to the Base Commander and now we were wondering about the consequences if we just walked out.

“I have orders to stop anyone from leaving the base.  It was not my idea.  I am just doing what I am told.”  Placing the blame on someone else was an approach the MP had not fully explored.

“I dig it man.  The Base Commander told you the whole place was on restriction.  He told you to keep everyone from leaving and don’t allow anyone to enter who is not authorized to be here.  Did he tell you what to do if someone decided to leave anyway?  I am sure he gave you some clear instructions.  ”  Bo was now turning up the heat.  It was easy to tell someone not to leave.  The Base Commander had put him in a position of authority but  now his authority was being questioned relentlessly.

“Ok, here is the way it is.  I guess if any of you try to leave, I will have to use force.”  The MP had just made a big mistake.  He was greatly outnumbered and did not seem to realize it.  It was like bringing a stick to a gunfight.

“How much force are you allowed to use.”  Bo jumped on his miscalculation.

“I can use as much force as I need to make sure the Base Commanders orders are followed.”  The MP did not realize it but he had just stepped into Bo’s trap.

“So, would you use your night stick?”  Bo was preparing for the strike.

“If necessary, I will.”  The MP had just bit.

“What would you do if that didn’t work?”  Bo was really in stride now.

“I guess if I had to, I would use my weapon.”  The MP responded but didn’t sound very convincing.

“So if we try to leave you would shoot us?  The trap was sprung.

“If necessary to carry out my orders, I would.”  The MP tried again to use his orders to convince us he was not the guilty party.  Surely, even Billy Jack’s birthday dinner was not worth getting shot. 

“How many rounds do you have in your weapon?”  Bo was setting him up for the final act of this play.

“We keep six rounds in our side arms at all times.”  The MP was not thinking clearly.  He had just given Bo the out that he wanted. 

“I am going to assume you are an expert Marksman.  You have six rounds.  If each round hits one of us, you will have six wounded GIs.  There are ten of us so I guess four of us will be left for witnesses. I am sure the Colonel is looking forward to explaining that to the Pentagon.  Six GI‘s gunned down at the gate of a Top Secret Base in Thailand!  Do you think he can cover it up by saying we were ambushed?  A bunch of Thai radicals must have been waiting outside the gate for an opportunity to shoot a bunch of guys heading to a birthday dinner.  I hope I can survive to read it in the newspaper.  Let’s go guys!” Bo sprung his trap and we all walked past the guard shack and over to the area where we could get a taxi.

As we crawled into our taxis, we all had to take a look at the MP and his reaction.  He did not pick up the phone.  He did not pull out his weapon.  He did not scream and yell for us to come back.  He just stood there.  One of the Thai guards walked over and seemed to be asking him why we were leaving.  Finally, he turned around walked back to the guard shack, gave us the finger and we went to Udorn.

Billy Jack had a fine birthday dinner.  Steaks for everyone.  Someone asked what we were going to do when we went back that night.  The same MP would be there and we would have to face him again.  The suggestion was to show him our Ids, tell him we hurried back as soon as we heard about the happenings in Bangkok and tell him we had noticed the Air Base was not on lockdown.  Leave it at that.

We went back to the base that night. Spoke to the MP and did nothing to cause him further embarrassment.  We thought about it, we talked about it, we even had a plan but we let him off the hook.  FTA

 CHAPTER :  - - - . .  (8)   Getting Married

In the Chapter about our 4th of July celebration, I mentioned the young woman who accompanied me.  Well after knowing her for some time, I asked her if she would like to get married and go home with me.  She said yes and we started talking about how we could pull it off without me getting in serious trouble with the Army.

I thought my extension would carry me until about September or October of 1972.  Little did I know the Army would decide to reduce the forces in Thailand and I would leave in April.  Was I happy?  Sure.  However I now I had precious little time to get everything done so my soon to be wife would be able to leave with me.  Here is how it all happened.

“Hey man, you are going home soon.”  Coach walked into our section, made the announcement to me and several others, and was obviously very happy.  It was mid January and the routine of being in the box was rarely broken by good news.  Rumors, yes.  Good news, no.

“Sure we are.”  The reaction from everyone was one of disbelief.

“No man, I am serious.  They just posted it the board in the hallway.  We are getting early drops.  I am not kidding you.”  Coach now seemed to be anxious to understand why we were not buying his story.  

“Ok, you don’t believe me, walk out there and see for yourself.  It is posted on the board with our new ETS.”  Coach sat down and obviously was not going to share anymore of his good news with us.

About half the guys in the room took off their ‘cans’, got up and headed for the hallway.  Once in the hallway you knew something unexpected was happening.  There was a crowd around the bulletin board and everyone seemed to be slapping someone on the back, shaking hands or just staring in disbelief.  Sure enough there it was.  In all the official Army abbreviations.  New ETS dates for a lot of people.  I checked and found my name and learned I would be leaving on April 15th. 

“I can’t believe it.”  That is the only reaction I could muster. I was not alone.  No one expected this, no one saw it coming but everyone enjoyed the moment.

The rest of that shift was spent talking about going home and what we would do when we got there. 

“I know one thing, the GI bill college money better not run out.  I am going to use every dime I can.”  Coach was already prepared to go back the Philly and back to school.

“Not me man.  I had enough typing and paperwork for a lifetime.  I am going to back a bag and just bum around the US.”  Stutz had a plan.

“When I get back the first thing I am going to do when I get off the plane in Kentucky is go to the track.”  Jack was always the guy who seemed so laid back.  I never thought of him as much of a gambler.

Everyone seemed to have a plan or at least a dream of what they would do when they returned.  I just sat there for a while thinking about the young lady I had told I would marry.  I had not shared my plan with anyone.  I thought we would get married around August depending on my extension.  She could get all her visas, police check and other paper work finished by then and we could get married 5 or 6 weeks before I left.  I thought this would keep the Army from messing with me too much.  Now we only had about 90 days.

“Listen, I need to talk to you about something.”  I broke the news to Rien when I arrived at the bungalow that evening.  

“I found out today that I am leaving in April.  We are going to have to get all you paperwork done in a hurry.”  I had no idea if we could get it done or not and I am sure she did not know either.

“What do you mean.”  She looked puzzled and a little distraught.

“The Army is letting us out early.  They will not let us extend so, I will be leaving in April.”  I am sure she sensed that I was not sure what would happen now.  She probably thought I was just trying to find a way to leave her behind.  It was not uncommon for some GI to make promises to someone and then leave without telling them.  

“Is there anyone we can talk to about your paperwork.”  We were in Thailand, there always seemed to be someone who could pull the right strings if you had the right amount of baht.

“Maybe.  The man at the English school I go to.”  You could see in her eyes the concern she had.

“Well, talk to him tomorrow.”  He was probably our only hope of getting things done on time.

She agreed to talk to this person the next day.  The remainder of that evening we talked about everything that had to be completed.  She also asked me what would happen when I told the Army I had married a ‘Foreign National’.  I told her not to worry about the Army.  She needed to focus on all the things we needed to get her out of the country. 

“Ok.  I talked to him today.  He said he can get all done. 2 weeks, maybe 3.  1000 baht.”  She broke the news to me as soon as she finished her classes the next day.

“Tell him, we will pay when he gets all done.”  I thought that seemed fair.

“No,  he say 500 baht now, 500 baht when done.  Also, I have to go to Bangkok for Passport and Visa.”  

“If you have to go, what does he do?”  Reasonable question, I thought.

“He get police check and help get passport and visa, ‘lao, lao.”  Apparently, once he made the contacts, the process would speed up.

“Ok.  Tomorrow you give him 500 baht.  When do you have to go to Bangkok?”

“He will tell me.”  She seemed a lot more confident in this process than I was.  

The next day, the baht was paid. About 2 weeks later, she returned from school and told me she would go to Bangkok in 3 days to get passport and visa.  She handed me a bunch of forms that had been completed in Thai and seemed to be relieved.  She made the trip to Bangkok a few days later and returned with a Thai passport and a visa for the US.  Now we had to pick a date to get married.  We chose March 1.  We chose that day mainly because I was scheduled for break that day.

March 1, 1972 rolled around and we had a Thai marriage ceremony.  The next day I reported to my CO that I had married a ‘foreign national’.

“You what?”  The CO was obviously excited by the news.

“Sir, I am reporting that I am now married to a Thai.”  For some reason “Thai” seemed a lot nicer to me than ‘foreign national’.

“Well you know you have to turn in your badge, you cannot work in ops now.”  The CO told me this as if I had no idea this was going to happen.  Everyone knew marrying a ‘Foreign National’ meant your access to classified materials was pulled.  

“Yes, I know.”  Nothing more needed to be said.

“Well young man, I don’t know what we will do with you.  When are you supposed to leave here.”  The CO seemed more concern about where he could hide me than the fact I had broken a whole list of Army Regulations.

“I leave on April 15th.”  All I could think of was 6 more weeks and I am out of here.

“OK.  You have to go down to S2 and I will set up a meeting with the Chaplain for you.”  The CO just looked at me and sat back down.

I left the Cos office, turned in my badge and then left the base.  No one told me to go anywhere else so I thought I would just make my self scarce for the rest of the day.  The next morning I went to the CO s office to see if, they had any idea what they wanted me to do.

“Tomorrow you need to be at the Chaplains office at 10:00.  He will talk to you.  You can bring the woman you married with you if you want.  Since you can’t work in ops, I want you to report to the warehouse everyday at 0700.  We have a bunch of new wall lockers there that need assembled.  There is another guy down there and you can help him.”  Well at least the CO did not tell me they would turn me over for re assignment or lock me up or restrict me to base.  I guess he thought it best to just leave me alone and put this whole matter to bed.

“Ok.”  I really did not want to see the Chaplain but I guess it was best if I did.  I knew his job was to convince me I had made a big mistake and I should just leave this young woman here.  He would tell me about all the terrible things that happened to guys who married women under these circumstances and how miserable my life would be.  However, I had nothing better to do and I knew he would not change my mind.  Besides that, I had to get him to sign off that he counseled me so I could get a ‘port call’ for my wife.

I left the CO’s office and made my way down to the warehouse.  I met up with the person assembling wall lockers, sat, and shot the breeze for a while.  I told him I had to go take care of some things at Headquarters and I would see him in the morning.  With that, I left.  I really needed to get all my wife’s paperwork and our marriage license translated into English.  To accomplish this I went to the Air Force Base in Udorn. 

The next morning at 10:00, I went through the counseling session and told the Chaplain I appreciated his concern but I had made up my mind.  He signed my ‘port call’ form and I took it to the company clerk.  The company clerk would then get the CO and anyone else who had to sign it to complete their portion and then send it to personnel for processing.

“Check with personnel in a few days and everything should be there.”  With those words from the clerk, I left and felt everything would progress as necessary.  As I turned to leave, the CO walked out of his office.

“I thought you were supposed to be working in the warehouse.”  The CO actually remembered what he had told me the day before.

“Yeah, I am.  However, I had to go see the Chaplain this morning, remember.  Then I had to drop these forms off.”  Just a little dig at the CO who obviously forgot about my counseling session.

“Well, get back down there.”  My presence seemed to upset the CO.  

More on assembling wall lockers later.

About a week passed and I felt it was time for me to pick up all the paperwork for my wife and I to leave Thailand.  However, the Army can’t just leave well enough alone.

“Man, I got some bad news for you.”  Personnel people are not supposed to begin conversations with a statement like that.

“Your CO is not going to sign off on the paperwork to get your wife a port call.”  This should not have surprised me.  Nevertheless, it did.

“His position is simple.  You are not allowed to have dependents here.  Since you are not allowed to have dependents with you, he will not sign off.

He is messing with you man but that is where it stands.”  Wow, what happened to all the warm and fuzzy personnel people.  Apparently, they had deferments or high lottery numbers.  This guy would never make in the corporate world.  How could he drop a bomb like that with no sign of remorse.

“But, I think we can get this done.”  A grin broke out on his face and you could see the “Corporal O’Reilly’ wheels turning in his head.  He was not some new guy in from the world who had no idea how the system worked.  He knew the system, he knew how to make it work and he had probably dealt with this problem before.

“I want you to come back here on Tuesday, sit in that chair and play dumb.”  Here we go again, nothing warm and fuzzy.  However, the ‘play dumb’ part I could do.  I was an O5H.  Remember what they said about being in the Army during Viet Nam:

“We are the unappreciated, doing the undesirable, for the ungrateful.

We have done so much ,for so long , with so little, we can now do anything with nothing”  

Two days later, I was back in the chair in personnel doing my best ‘Forest Gump’ impression.  “Stupid is as stupid does”, was my motto for the day.
The personnel guru started shuffling a bunch of paperwork and doing his best to seem annoyed.  Finally, he spun around in his chair and beckoned the Warrant Officer who was in charge.

“I have a problem with this man’s paperwork.”  I did not expect him to begin the conversation with his boss by admitting there was a problem.

“He is leaving on April 15th, he married a ‘foreign national’ and I submitted all the paperwork for their port calls.  I have his, but not hers.  I need to get him done.  We have a lot of guys leaving and I don’t have time to waste because someone isn’t getting their job done.”  I had learned the personnel clerks was named Ray.  He wasted no time telling his boss he wanted to get me processed and all he needed was for others to do their job.

“Let me see the paperwork.”  The Warrant Office picked up the stack and leafed through all the documents.  As he did, I wondered how these were being processed without the CO’s signature.

“Ok, everything looks right.  Go ahead and call Bangkok, get a port call for him and get him out of here.”  The Warrant Officer seemed satisfied, so now what.

“Ok.”  Ray turned toward me in his chair, gave me a smile and grabbed a phone.

To this day, I do not know who he called.  Nevertheless, he had someone looking for all this paperwork and he was giving them a real piece of his mind.  I found out later from Ray that he had never sent the paperwork to whoever it was he was talking to.

“Look man, I sent them down there myself.  You have had them for 2 or 3 weeks now.  Do you want me to tell this man he cannot go home because you can’t find his paperwork.  What kind of idiots do you have working down there.  Give me a port call for him on the phone, find the paperwork and get it back to me ASAP.”  Who ever was on the other end of that phone must have thought he was talking to God himself.

“Wait a second.  I have his port call.  His wife needs to be on the same plane.  Let me give it to you.”  Ray had the situation well in hand.

“Ok, I have everything.  Can you send me a teletype with this information so I can put a copy in his file while we are waiting for the originals.”  Obviously, Ray new he needed something as back up to keep his tail out of the wringer.

“Send it to me now.  I don’t want to hold this man up any longer.”  Good old Ray, simple, straightforward instructions.  Instructions given to someone who had no idea the paperwork would never be found and never returned.  Nevertheless, all I needed was the port call.

“Ok man.  Here is her port call.  All the paperwork you need and I will see you later.  Meet me outside the mess hall about 1730.”  I had my paperwork and now all I had to do was meet with Ray and see what I owed him for his trouble.  As it turned out, he asked me for $20.  Not a bad price to pay considering what it would have cost if I had to fly my wife back commercial.

April 14th came, we boarded a train and went to Don Muang to fly home.

After arriving at Don Muang, I presented the necessary documents and we took at seat in the terminal to await our departure. I had not told my wife anything about the paperwork problems.  I figured the time would come when I could fill her in without causing her any worries.

We sat patiently in the terminal watching all the guys who were leaving the country.  Actually, I sat there wondering if someone would figure out that, my paperwork was still floating around in the wild blue yonder and pull us off that flight.  I was doing my best  not appear nervous but I could not help noticing a Thai WAC keeping an eye on us.  I figured she was just wondering how this Thai woman had found a GI to take her to the land of the big PX.  At some point, she stopped staring and started walking toward us.  Here we go I thought.

“You will not be able to get on the plane until you get a haircut.”  A Thai WAC telling me I had to get a haircut.

“No, you see, I am going home.  I am getting out of the Army.”  I did my best to let her know that the Army wouldn’t care what I looked like in about 48 more hours.

“Sorry.  You must get a haircut.”  She was obviously not satisfied with my response and I did not want anyone questioning me or my wife anymore than necessary.

I went down to the barber in Don Muang.  Gave him the proper payment and asked for a receipt.  He looked at me puzzled since he had not touched my hair.

“All I need is a receipt.”  I figured the guy would happily give me a receipt since I paid him for nothing.

Back to my chair, talking to my wife and waiting for the plane.

The Thai WAC walked over to us and I pulled out the receipt and gave it to her.

“No good.  Still need cut.”  She was still not happy.  I could not believe I had less than 2 days left in the Army and someone was making me get a haircut.  Not just someone but a Thai.  Not just a Thai, a Thai WAC.  Did she not realize that women in Thailand were still considered lower than a man?  How could she do this to me?

I gave up, went back to the barber and sat down in the chair.  He cut my hair and I reminded him that I had been there, paid him but he did not cut my air.

“OK.  Two dollars.”  The barber wanted me to pay him again.  I did not want to cause any more problems for myself so I pulled out the money and paid him.  

I went back to my chair and expressed my frustration to my wife.  I sat there patiently waiting for that Thai Soldier to come back to check my haircut.  Finally, I mentioned to my wife that I did not see her.  She then told me the WAC had left through a set of doors with several other Thai Soldiers. Probably time to ’gin khao’. I never saw that WAC again.  It cost me four bucks for haircuts I did not want and did not need and she never came back to check on me.  The price you have to pay when you know something you don’t want anyone else to know.  

It has been 40 years now since my wife and I got married.  She is the greatest thing that ever happened to me. One thing I can be sure of is her.  As sure as the sunrises in the morning, I wake up each day and she is there. I wonder sometimes why she has stuck with me through all these years. She is not just a good wife, she is a good person.  

When we left Thailand in 1972, I am sure her family believed she was moving to the land of the big PX.  The place where everyone was rich, had 2 or 3 cars, a yacht, a 10 bedroom house and money trees in the backyard.  Nevertheless, our life together has been like most average people who have been married for 40 years.  We have had our good times and our rough times. 

 I watched her suffer with “Epstein Barr Virus” when she was sick for nearly a year.  Then she was stricken with “Burketts Lymphoma” and spent almost 5 months in the hospital.  As I sat with her during that time, I wondered how she could survive.  All the cruel realities of cancer inflicted her body.  She never gave up.  Less than a month after being released she was on ’Grandfather Mountain’ in North Carolina.  She literally crawled across the mile high walkway there and sat on the rocks staring at the mountains.  No hair, weighed about 92 pounds.  Her oncologist told her at one point that she would have a miserable summer that year but the leaf change in the fall could be the most beautiful she had ever seen.  By the Grace of God, she saw the leaves change that year. 

She gave birth to our 3 children whom I love dearly.  We have been blessed with 4 grandchildren so far and they are very special to us.  Children and Grandchildren however are yours for just a short time.  Your children grow up and make a life of their own.  Your grandchildren are never really yours, they belong to your children.  My wife on the other hand is mine.  I love her more than life itself and I only wish I could have given her more in this life than I have been able to give her.  

Chapter - - - - .   (9) Assembling Wall Lockers

Between the times, I got married and we left Thailand I worked with another guy assembling new wall lockers.  It seems they had decided to replace all the old wall lockers in our barracks with new ones.  So, me and this other guy (I have no idea what his name was) spent our days assembling the wall lockers and wasting time.  Well, I thought we were wasting time.  The other guy seemed to be a ‘highly motivated trooper’ who believed what he was doing was very important.

“How many of these things do you build a day?”  I asked him the question because I could not imagine doing this all day.  It was like sorting mail by hand or sealing envelopes or coping ‘dits and dahs’.  It was to say the least repetitive and boring.

“By myself I can do 6 or 7 depending on how many I deliver that day.”  He seemed proud of the fact he could accomplish all this alone.

“I put them together, get a pick up, load them up and take them to the barracks.  Then I pick up the old ones once they guys have moved all their stuff and bring the old ones back here.”  As he described the process, I could only think it sounded like a lot of work.

“Wait a minute.  You build them, deliver them and pick up the old ones?”  I questioned.

“Yep.  But with you here to help me we could probably do 15 a day.”  He seemed eager to set high goals for us.  

“Well we need a better system.”  I told him.

As we worked together that first day, I could not understand why this guy was so happy.  I don’t think I ever asked him why he was assigned this job.  

Maybe there was a special MOS for this. 

136Bravo GI Personal Item Storage Unit Assemblyman’.

  6 weeks AIT (Advanced Training) at Ft. Leonard Wood, Missouri.

Anyway, it did not matter.  I knew all I had to do was stay out of sight, not cause any trouble and do as little as possible until April 15th.

Lunchtime rolled around that first day and I headed for the Mess Hall.  I sat down with some of the Ops guys and started chatting and eating.  After a few minutes, I noticed our Company Clerk sitting nearby and I had a vision.

“Hey man, what’s up?”  I approached the Clerk and he could tell by my face that I wanted something.

“I wonder if you have a roster that shows the days of arrival for new guys.”  I knew that most of the replacements for those of us getting ‘early outs’ were coming right out of school at Ft. Devens.

“Yeah, I have a roster of everyone scheduled to arrive in the next 30 days.”   The clerk responded to me but you could sense he wondered why I cared.

“Can I have a copy?”  A small request on my part I thought.

“Sure, stop by and get it.”  The clerk was sure being cooperative.

I stopped by headquarters and picked up the roster after eating lunch, hanging out at the PX, going swimming and stopping by the barracks to see who was on break.  With my list in hand, I went back to the warehouse to sell my plan to my partner.

“Where you been man?  I thought you weren’t coming back.”  My co-worker seemed a little frustrated that I was not concerned about his goals for assembling wall lockers each day.

“I had to meet with the Company Clerk and pick up this roster.”  It was not important for him to know where the meeting was or what else I had done.

“Let me explain to you how they want us to work on this.”  I did not ask him if he wanted to do things my way.  I let him think this was a plan drawn up by someone higher up than we were.  Probably a Colonel, West Point Grad, Purple Heart recipient and who knows what else. However, someone high up the chain of command must have put together this plan.  At least I hoped he would think that.

“We have a list here of guys due to arrive everyday.  We need to build wall lockers for each of the new arrivals.  They can then pick them up when they come down here to process in.  They can take them up to the barracks and bring us back the old ones.”  Simple plan and a lot less work for us.

“But we need to take them up to the barracks in a truck.”  He looked somewhat puzzled at my plan.

“No man, they can get a dolly or someone to help them and take them up there.  Besides they need help bringing back the old ones.”  I could tell that this guy was totally confused.  He could not understand why this plan was so much better than his.  I did not take time to explain. 

“I don’t know why it’s this way man.  All I know is the Company Clerk gave me this list and told me to give them new wall lockers when they processed in.”  Trying to save this guy a lot of work was not working.  What he needed was an authority figure and I was happy to fill the role.

“Ok.  If that is what they want us to do.”  He bought the plan.  Now all we had to do was implement it.  This meant a trip back to see the Company Clerk. 

“I need you to add something to your list of items for processing in.”  I told the company clerk in a matter of fact way.

“I need you to have the NUGS stop by and pick up their new wall lockers when they process in.”  No explanation as to why was necessary.  The Company Clerk did not care what they had to do.

“No problem.”  Company clerks can be a man’s best friend I thought as he responded.

The plan was now in place.  Each day we would check the roster for new arrivals the next day.  If we had two coming in, we assembled two wall lockers.  If four, we built four and so on, and so on, and so on.  When the new people processed in we would tell them to complete their processing find an empty bunk in the barracks, bring us the old wall lockers and we would provide them a new one.  Easy.  No pick up trucks, no loading new lockers, no unloading, no removing old wall lockers. If they chose not to bring back their old lockers no problem.  We would just hold their new ones over until the next day.  However, NUGS right out of Ft. Devens were not likely to question the system.  They would think they could be severely punished for not following the directions we gave them.  With a plan like this eventually, every man would have a new wall locker.  

The emphasis here is on eventually.  After April 15, I did not care how many years it might take.  Ramasun closed in 1975.  I think by then everyone probably had a new wall locker.  If not, no problem they could ship back the unused ones in their original containers.

There were a few times we broke down and ignored the plan.  For example, if a guy came in from another overseas duty station by himself we would help him move his lockers.  Well, I say we.  I was a Spec. 5 my helper was a PFC.  If you get my drift.  We would assemble that day locker’s, go to the mess hall, hang out at the PX, go visit our buddies who were on break and just generally waste the American peoples tax dollars.  At least that is what I did.  I really do not know what my helper did. 

I do not know how many wall lockers we assembled during that time.  I know it was not the number my partner had hoped.  He probably broke down and told some lifer about it after I left.  Probably got a medal or something for all his efforts.  I do not know.  I just know I left on my last day without telling him.  He probably waited all day for me to show up.  FTA. 

CHAPTER :  - - - - -   (10) 40 Years Later

40 years ago on April 16, 1972 the ASA and the Army sent me home.  My DEROS had arrived.  I was flown back to Oakland, processed out and discharged.   At that point, in my life it was the happiest day I had ever had.

I had been stationed at Ft. Dix N.J., Ft. Devens, Mass., Ft. Clayton in the Panama Canal Zone and the 7th RRFS in Thailand. 

 Viet Nam was winding down.  Our country had made the decision to leave behind many of those we had promised to protect.  Viet Nam, Laos and Cambodia all fell into total turmoil.  The front pages of the newspaper no longer featured headlines about anti war protests, body counts and how many US troops died that day.  The world had changed.  My world and the world of many like me had changed forever.  I found a job, started a family, struggled to pay my bills and got through life the best I could.  Nevertheless, I never really forgot the time I spent in the Army.  I figured I would never again see Panama or Thailand.  Really, I had no real desire to re-visit them.  However, somewhere along the line things began to change.  

Things really changed in 2006.  I went back to Thailand for a 2-week visit with my wife.  She had become a US citizen and visited her family in Thailand a few times.  I wanted to go with her but never really had the money I needed for both of us to go.  That is until 2006.  

When we arrived in Thailand in 2006, we spent a few days in Bangkok.  Typical tourists.  My wife was Thai but had never really spent time in Bangkok.  We visited all the usual tourists’ sights in Bangkok and then went to Chiang Mai.  After seeing the Elephant camp, many of the ancient temple sights and Doi Suthep we headed for Udorn.  

Udorn was a complete mystery to me upon my return.  The streets that were all dirt (mud during the rainy season) were now paved.  The ‘samlaws’ were gone and replaced with ‘tuuk tuuks‘ (the people in Udorn call them saam laws).  The Charoen Hotel and Paradise Hotel were still in existence. McDonalds, Pizza Company, a Levi’s store and other modern shops lined Thanom Posri.  You have a difficult time finding a Taxi.  ‘Sang tels’, ‘tuuk tuuks and buses are the mass transit system outside of Bangkok.  The klongs were gone, replaced with sewage systems. There were large modern banks, internet cafes and ice cream parlors.  There was no sign of the places that had been frequented by GI’s. The sidewalk ‘khao pat’ stands still exist. Gold Shops could still be found.  Occasionally you would see a sign offering ‘Thai Massage’.  Beauty shops, cell phone stores, and appliance stores were found in abundance.  Occasionally you would see someone who appeared to have an American father.  We met a couple of people who told us their fathers were Gis.  The city had grown tremendously.  The Udorn we knew was gone.  Udorn Thani as it existed in 1972 was just a vague memory to those who lived there.  

My wife and I spent three or 4 days visiting with what is left of her family.  We visited Nong Khai and went by the site that had held Ramasun Station.  There had been a coup and the officer at the gate told us he could not allow us on the base.  He said if we came back in a few weeks things would probably settle down and he could let us visit.  I was disappointed we would not be in country long enough to let the coup settle and revisit the base.  You could still see the tops of the old FLR9.  Along the highway, the Thai Army had built housing which prevented you from seeing any of the old buildings from the highway.  The highway had been expanded by four lanes.  The two lanes that existed in 1972 were still there.  There was a pedestrian bridge across the highway from Nong Soong to other side. 

As it turned out the coup created tremendous turmoil in Thailand.  Thaksin had been Prime Minister and was in New York when he was ousted.  The military took over, elections were held about 1 year later but it did not resolve the problem.  The country was (and is) much divided.  People in and around Bangkok were supportive of the coup while people in the rest of the country wanted the return of Thaksin.  As I write this, another election has been held and a sister of Thaksin (Yingluck) has been elected Prime Minister.  Only time will tell how this will play out.

The time came for our departure from Thailand and I was saddened to leave.  I had thoroughly enjoyed myself while there.  On the plane ride back to the US, I told my wife I thought I could live in Thailand now and be very happy.  Modern conveniences abound for anyone who has a few baht to spend.  Refrigerators, cable and satellite TV, cell phones, Global House (similar to Lowes or Home Depot) and newly constructed housing made me think life there could be very enjoyable.  The number of ‘farangs’ living there had grown substantially over the years.  Germans and Brits were everywhere.  Smaller numbers of Americans and Australians are found along with small numbers from other countries.  However, I really did not give living there any serious thought.

A year or so after our return my desire to go back to Thailand and live really started to grow.  I had become a Christian in 1975 and I felt I was being led to return to Thailand.  I was not in a position to stop working, go to seminary and leave as a Missionary.  The feelings I had however continued to grow.  Finally, in 2010 I felt that I really needed to go back and live in Thailand and along with my wife, minister to her family and anyone else we met.  In 2012, we left for Thailand.

My wife had purchased a small plot of land outside of Udorn for her family.  She had paid to erect a small house on the property, which had been occupied by one of our nephews.  Her only surviving Brother had also built on the property.  Like most new construction in Thailand, the houses were built using concrete block.  Her brother’s house had a couple of bedrooms, a living room, kitchen and bathroom.  There was running water, a septic system and electricity (most Thais did not have electricity in 1972 or only used it for a light at night).  Our plan was to build a house next door to her brother with all the modern conveniences.

As I have said, Udorn is nothing like it was in 1972.  However, something’s in Thailand will probably never change.  No one seems to be in a hurry (unless they are driving a car or riding their motorcycles) and construction standards do not exist.  If you are building a house in Thailand, you have to supervise the job yourself.  You find people to do the work and buy the materials they need.  No one ever knows how much material they will need, how long it will take or what it will look like when finished.  You have to guide them step by step.  A great example of this is doing a bathroom.

Thailand is way ahead of the US in some areas of conservation.  Obviously most Thais are still living in relative poverty.  However, they are not wasteful.  They do not use hot water heaters as they are known in the US and many other countries.  For showers they have a heater that mounts on the wall and heats water for a shower, as you need it.  No money or energy wasted heating water repeatedly in a hot water heater.  To have a hot shower you install this type of heater.  

We found an electrician to wire the house, hook up lights and install plugs.  As we were getting this done, we asked the electrician about hooking up the electric to our water heater.  No problem he told us, we will get to that when we finish the lights, plugs, fans, switches etc. When the electrician finished everything else, we asked him about the water heater.  He told us no problem but installing the water heater would cost more than everything else he had done combined.  His reason, the water heater had to be properly grounded to prevent electrocution and this meant he had to run an additional wire about 20 feet to ground.  I believe he felt that a ‘farang’ could not live without a hot shower so he could charge anything he wished.  We refused to pay the price he wanted so he left.  We found another person who installed the water heat for about $13.  

The plumbing in the bathroom was another adventure.  They were preparing to pour the concrete floors for the bathroom.  My wife asked them about ‘stubbing in’ the plumbing for the drains and water lines.  No problem they told us.  They had all the PVC they needed and showed us where they had put a hole through the exterior wall to run the drain to the septic system.  They also pointed out to us where the water lines would enter the house for the bathroom and then on to the kitchen which they would pour next.  Understood.  Sure.  

My wife and I took a couple of days to take care of some personal business.  When we returned, we found there was no drain in the shower.  There was however, a drain in the floor near the sink, which was on the other side of the bathroom. The concrete had set and we were not happy campers.  The workers then told us you could not put the drain under the concrete.  What would you do, they reasoned, if there was a problem.  You would have to tear up all the concrete to fix it.  This way you only have to knock a hole in the wall.  However, we countered.  The drain for the sink and for the toilet running to the septic system is under the concrete, what happens if we have a problem with them.  Their response was easily understood. “This is not the US, this is Thailand, and this is how we do it.”  In other words if you want us to tear out all the concrete and take the time and buy the materials it is up to you.  We decided to let it go.  As it works out the floor was poured so the water runs along one wall, behind the toilet and down the drain.  60% of the floor stays dry.  At least we are in Thailand where it is hot (by our standards) 95% of the time so the floor is dry again in 30 minutes or less.

Ceiling fans are a common item in Thailand.  Most Thai homes have ceiling fans in every room except possibly the bathroom and kitchen.  We did not give a second thought to installing the ceiling fans in our house.   Finding fans in Thailand is about as difficult as finding someone with black hair.  We picked out our fans and lights for our house at ‘Global House’, which is very similar to a Lowes or Home Depot. In fact, in many ways it is much better.  At Global House, you can actually find some to help you if you cannot locate the items you want to purchase.  After purchasing the fans, we transported them to the site for the electricians.  Exhaust fans and lights (florescent) in bathroom, no problem.  Ceiling fans and lights for the kitchen and bedrooms, no problems.  Then they came to the living room.  All other rooms had separate lights and fans.  The living room is a fan with four lights attached.  You see them everywhere in the US.  Well apparently, our electricians had not seen one before.  They sat on the floor and studied the fan and lights, looked at the instructions included and were obviously puzzled.  I sat down on the floor with them and showed them how to assemble the light fixture, which seemed to have them totally lost.  Bottom line is I put the thing together for them.  Now all they had to do was hang the fixture.  20 minutes later one of them is sitting on the floor with a part in his hand.  It was the cover you put on the fan if you are not using the light package.  He spent all that time trying to figure out why that cover was left over.  My wife explained it and he was impressed.

Leveling anything during the construction was an adventure.  To plumb walls they used string with a weight on the end.  I do not know why they did not use their level.  However, they preferred the string with the weight.  It works but a level would have been so much faster.  To level the floors they used clear plastic hose with water.  During my education, I learned that water would seek its own level.  They used this method many times.  If my grandfather were alive, he would probably tell me, ‘yep that’s the way I learnt it’.  

As I said earlier, nothing gets wasted.  The original house my wife had built had wooden beams and girters for the roof.  We removed the old roof, put up a new roof with steel infrastructure, and finished aluminum roofing.  It is a good idea to use as little wood as possible when building.  Termites are a major problem.  That being said, they removed the old roof and put all the old wood and other roofing material in a pile.  They also made sure they removed all the old nails, straightened them and put them in a bucket.  Once they had completed our house, the old roof material was used to add a carport (actually a saam law port) to the neighbor’s house.  No one asked if they could use the old material.  They just gathered it up one day and began building.  The bright side of this, we did not have to find someone to haul it off.

I could go on and on about building our house but I will not bore you with the details. 

Conclusion: 

 I guess there is no conclusion.  Life goes on.  If you enjoyed this, I am glad.  If not, I am sorry you wasted your time.  

I cannot say I actually enjoyed my time in the Army.  I am not sure if anyone can say they enjoyed it.  However, I will never forget it.  It seems as I recall those days I only remember the good times.  Sure, working in the box everyday for hours on end was not a good time.  However, I remember a lot more about the things that happened outside the box than things that happened in the box.  Maybe it is selective memory.  

To the guys who served at the 7th, I hope your life has been a good one.  We will always share the memories of life at the 7th Rock and Roll Freak Show.  May God Bless each of you.

If you found this on the net and would like to e-mail me my address is:

Laddandick@aol.com.  


